
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING AND ZONING  
COMMISSION AGENDA 

 Wednesday, August 9, 2023 
7:00 PM 

Yorkville City Hall Council Chambers 
651 Prairie Pointe Drive  

 

Meeting Called to Order: 7:00 p.m.  
 
Roll Call:  
 
Previous meeting minutes:  July 12, 2023 
 
Citizen’s Comments 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------  
Public Hearings 

1. PZC 2023-10 United City of Yorkville, Kendall County, Illinois, petitioner, is proposing a text 
amendment to Chapter 6: Permitted and Special Uses in the Zoning Ordinance to identify “data 
center”, “refrigerated warehouse (cold storage)”, and “battery uses” as permitted uses within the M-1 
Limited Manufacturing and M-2 General Manufacturing districts. This text amendment will provide 
definitions for the establishment and operation of such uses in these zoning districts. Additionally, an 
amendment to Table 10.16.03 in Chapter 16: Off-Street Parking and Loading in the Zoning 
Ordinance related to the uses is proposed. 

Unfinished Business 

New Business 

1. PZC 2023-10 United City of Yorkville, Kendall County, Illinois, petitioner, is proposing a text 
amendment to Chapter 6: Permitted and Special Uses in the Zoning Ordinance to identify “data 
center”, “refrigerated warehouse (cold storage)”, and “battery uses” as permitted uses within the M-1 
Limited Manufacturing and M-2 General Manufacturing districts. This text amendment will provide 
definitions for the establishment and operation of such uses in these zoning districts. Additionally, an 
amendment to Table 10.16.03 in Chapter 16: Off-Street Parking and Loading in the Zoning 
Ordinance related to the uses is proposed. 

 Action Item: 
 Text Amendment 

2. PZC 2023-11 Jefferey D. Milroy on behalf of Milroy Farms, LLC, is requesting to renew its current 
special use permit, approved in 2014, for the operation of a compost facility on approximately 39.87 
acres at 1270 E. Beecher Road in unincorporated Kendall County. 

 Action Item: 
 1.5 Mile Review 

United City of Yorkville  
651 Prairie Pointe Drive  
Yorkville, Illinois 60560 
Telephone:  630-553-4350 
www.yorkville.il.us  



Additional Business 

1. City Council Action Updates 

a. PZC 2022-02 Turning Point Energy, LLC, petitioner, has filed applications with the United 
City of Yorkville, Kendall County, Illinois, requesting rezoning approval, special use 
authorization, and variance approval to construct a solar farm on the 54-acre parcel generally 
located east of Cannonball Trail and north of the Burlington Northern Santa Fe railroad line 
within the Bristol Ridge Planned Unit Development. The petitioner is requesting to rezone 
the parcel from the R-2 Single-Family and R-2 Duplex PUD to the A-1 Agricultural District, 
special use permit approval for a solar farm land use, and variance approval to decrease the 
minimum distance between the ground and the solar panels from ten (10) feet to a minimum 
height of two (2) feet.  

 Action Item  
 Rezone, Special Use, Variance 

b. PZC 2022-03 Turning Point Energy, LLC, petitioner, has filed applications with the United 
City of Yorkville, Kendall County, Illinois, requesting rezoning approval, special use 
authorization, and variance approval to construct a solar farm on the 42-acre parcel generally 
located east of Cannonball Trail and south of Galena Road within the Bristol Ridge Planned 
Unit Development. The petitioner is requesting to rezone the parcel from the R-2 Single-
Family and R-3 Townhome PUD to the A-1 Agricultural District zoning, special use permit 
approval for a solar farm land use, and variance approval to decrease the minimum distance 
between the ground and the solar panels from ten (10) feet to a minimum height of two (2) 
feet. 

 Action Item  
 Rezone, Special Use, Variance 

c. PZC 2023-04 Trinity Church United Methodist, petitioner, has filed an application with the 
United City of Yorkville, Kendall County, Illinois, requesting sign variance approval to move 
their three (3) existing nonconforming onsite signs to new locations on the property due to the 
future widening of Bridge Street by the Illinois Department of Transportation. The property is 
located at 2505 Boomer Lane at the southeast corner of the Cannonball Trail and Illinois 
Route 47 (Bridge Street) intersection, in Yorkville, Illinois. 

 Action Item  
 Sign Variance 

 

Adjournment 
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  PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION  

City Council Chambers 
651 Prairie Pointe Drive, Yorkville, IL 

Wednesday, July 12, 2023  7:00pm 
 
  
Meeting Called to Order 
Chairman Jeff Olson called the meeting to order at 7:00pm, roll was called and a quorum 
was established.  
  
Roll Call   
Deborah Horaz-yes, Greg Millen-yes, Jeff Olson-yes, Richard Vinyard-yes, 
Danny Williams-yes  
 
Absent:  Rusty Hyett, Reagan Goins 
  
City Staff 
Krysti Barksdale-Noble, Community Development Director  
        
Other Guests    
Lynn Dubajic Kellogg, City Consultant    
Chris Vitosh, Vitosh Reporting Service 
Jim Rorie, Trinity Church United Methodist 
Bob Boyd, Trinity Church United Methodist 
Jason Cooper, Kimley-Horn 
Tom Huddleston, Huddleston McBride 
Adam Beal, Turning Point Energy 
Mr. Kyle Barry, McGuire Woods LLP 
Scott Osborn, Turning Point Energy 
Emily Kahanic, Kimley-Horn 
 
Previous Meeting Minutes  June 14, 2023 
The minutes were approved as presented on a motion and second by Commissioners     
Williams and Horaz, respectively.     
Roll call: Millen-yes, Olson-yes, Vinyard-yes, Williams-yes, Horaz-yes.  Carried 5-0.  
  
Citizen’s Comments  None  
        
Public Hearings   
There were two Public Hearings scheduled for this meeting, however, the second one, 
My Bristol Dream Events, was not able to submit their documents in time for this 
meeting and therefore, will not be heard tonight.  Mr. Olson explained the procedure for 
the Hearing and swore in those who would give testimony. 
           
At approximately 7:04pm a motion was made and seconded by Mr. Vinyard and Mr. 
Williams, respectively to open the Public Hearing.  Roll call:  Millen-yes, Olson-yes, 
Vinyard-yes, Williams-yes, Horaz-yes.  Carried 5-0.  Mr. Olson read the case description. 
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1. PZC 2023-04 Trinity Church United Methodist, Petitioner, has filed an 

application with the United City of Yorkville, Kendall County, Illinois, requesting 
 sign variance approval to move their three (3) existing non-conforming on-site 
 signs to new locations on the property.  This is due to the future widening of 
 Bridge Street by the Illinois Department of Transportation.  The property is 
 located at 2505 Boomer Lane at the southeast corner of the Cannonball Trail and 
 Illinois Route 47 (Bridge Street) intersection, in Yorkville, Illinois.    
 
(See Court Reporter's Transcript of proceedings) 
 
A motion was made by Commissioners Vinyard and Williams, respectively, at 
approximately 7:06pm to close the Public Hearing.  Roll call:  Millen-yes, Olson-yes, 
Vinyard-yes, Williams-yes, Horaz-yes.  Carried 5-0. 
 
Ms. Noble said there are 3 signs existing at the location and IDOT had requested they 
move the signs as part of the Rt. 47 widening.  The church could keep the signs as legal 
non-conforming for 5 years, but they are now asking for the variance to keep the signs as 
they are.  Staff is not opposed and the public was notified with no negative feedback.  
Chairman Olson read the general standards and sign variance standards.  The Petitioner 
would like their replies to the standards to be part of the official record. 
  
 Action Item 
 Variance Request  
It was moved by Commissioner Vinyard to approve the variance request PZC 2023-04 
and it was seconded by Commissioner Williams who read the motion as follows:  In 
consideration of testimony presented during a Public Hearing on July 12, 2023 and 
approval of the findings of fact, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommends 
approval of a request to vary the sign regulations contained in Section 10-20-8-A-1 and 
Section 10-20-8-B of the United City of Yorkville Zoning Ordinance as stated in a staff 
memorandum dated June 6, 2023 for the property commonly known as 2505 Boomer 
Lane.   
Roll call:  Olson-yes, Vinyard-yes, Williams-yes, Horaz-yes, Millen-yes.   Carried 5-0. 
            

2. PZC 2023-06  Elizabeth Chapa dba My Bristol Dream Events.  Documents not 
submitted for Hearing, not being presented at this meeting.  

 
Unfinished Business 
Items #1 and 2 were discussed simultaneously. 
 

1. PZC 2023-02  Turning Point Energy, LLC, petitioner, has filed applications with 
the United City of Yorkville, Kendall County, Illinois, requesting rezoning 
approval, special use authorization and variance approval to construct a solar farm 
on the 54-acre parcel generally located east of Cannonball Trail and north of the  
Burlington Northern Santa Fe railroad line within the Bristol Ridge Planned Unit 
Development.  The petitioner is requesting to rezone the parcel from the R-2 
Single-Family and R-2 Duplex PUD to the A-1 Agricultural District, special use 
permit approval for a solar farm land use and variance approval to decrease the 
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minimum distance between the ground and the solar panels from ten (10) feet to a 
minimum height of two (2) feet. 

 
2. PZC 2023-03  Turning Point Energy, LLC, petitioner, has filed applications with 

the United City of Yorkville, Kendall County, Illinois, requesting rezoning 
approval, special use authorization and variance approval to construct a solar farm 
on the 42-acre parcel generally located east of Cannonball Trail and south of 
Galena Road within the Bristol Ridge Planned Unit Development.  The petitioner 
is requesting to rezone the parcel from the R-2 Single-Family and R-3 Townhome 
PUD to the A-1 Agricultural District zoning, special use permit approval for a 
solar farm land use and variance approval to decrease the minimum distance 
between the ground and the solar panels from ten (10) feet to a minimum height 
of two (2) feet. 

 
Attorney Mr. Kyle Barry asked to address these cases together.  He said they came before 
this Commission in May and many questions were raised about the projects, so he gave a 
brief presentation to address some of the issues.  Mr. Jason Cooper of Kimley-Horn said 
they have updated the site plan and pushed the panel locations farther from the road.  He 
asked if a buffer would be needed.  Mr. Cooper's staff said the cost estimates were 
increased to allow for inflation, a glare study was redone showing no issues with minor 
modifications including a 5% change in the resting position for the panels, a pollution 
plan was submitted and erosion will be controlled during construction. 
 
Mr. Barry addressed a blanket easement request from the city which he said did not seem 
necessary for decommissioning.  The Agricultural Impact Mitigation Agreement that was 
required includes language that accomplishes what an easement would.  The other issue 
he had is that the easement would encumber the title to the property.  He said the city 
would acquire a property interest and it would be inappropriate.   
 
Ms. Noble provided a response to the information presented by Mr. Barry and Mr. 
Cooper. She said it has been standard procedure to request blanket easements which gives 
the right to enter if the project is defunct.   The language in the agreement mentioned 
above only allows to draw down funds, not enter the property.  Ms. Noble said the 
blanket easement has been done with other recent solar projects.  Mr. Barry said he did 
not think other subdivisions were required to enter into the Mitigation Agreement and 
doing it as an easement is inappropriate—he suggested doing it in another way rather 
than by title encumbrances which could affect financing. He proposed a narrow license 
giving the right to enter, triggered by abandonment.   
 
Mr. Olson said if the blanket easement is a requirement, the Commission would 
recommend that.  He also commented on other items including decommissioning and 
drainage.  He does not agree with the decommissioning plan and thinks the revised 3% 
inflation rate is more appropriate than the proposed amount, however, he feels that should 
be doubled.  Mr. Cooper said Covid has reduced inflation and suggested 3%.   Mr. Olson 
said the Commissioners would recommend the City Council discuss the rate for the 
special use.  
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Regarding drainage for site #105, Tom Huddleston of Huddleston Drainage Company, 
said this parcel was going to be a subdivision at one time for which they did a drainage 
study.  He said the drainage tiles can be re-routed, they will maintain the existing 
agricultural land and also improve/maintain the land so it can be returned to ag when the 
project decommissions.   Ms. Horaz asked who oversees this aspect and Mr. Huddleston 
replied a study will be provided and is contingent on the building permit. 
 
It was noted by Ms. Noble that the entry points for both sites have been adjusted to 
consider requests from the County Highway Commissioner and that the setback of panels 
on #105 from the nearest residential unit be changed to 830 feet from 530 feet.   
 
Ms. Horaz recommended that one particular planting-- allium (Latin name cernuum) be 
excluded from the list as the bulbs multiply greatly.  This will be included as a 
recommendation to the special use. 
 
Chairman Olson read the standards for the rezoning, special use and variance. 
 
MOTIONS FOR PZC 2023-02 BRISTOL RIDGE SOLAR FARM 105 
 
SPECIAL USE:  Motion by Mr. Williams, second by Mr. Vinyard to approve. 
Motion read by Ms. Noble:  In consideration of testimony presented during a Public 
Hearing on May 10, 2023 and discussion of the findings of fact, the Planning and Zoning 
Commission recommends approval to the City Council a request for Special Use 
authorization to construct a freestanding solar energy system, or solar farm, contingent 
upon approval of annexation agreement amendment for the Bristol Ridge Development 
by the City Council, for a property generally located north of the Burlington Northern 
Santa Fe railroad line and east of Cannonball Trail, subject to staff recommendations in a 
memo dated July 5, 2023 and further subject to the removal of allium as a proposed plant 
in the landscaping plan and an increase in the inflation rate for the decommissioning 
schedule, above the 3% which is recommended by staff. 
Roll call:  Vinyard-yes, Williams-yes, Horaz-yes, Millen-yes, Olson-yes.  Passed 5-0. 
 
REZONING:  Motion by Mr. Williams, second by Mr. Vinyard to approve. 
Motion read by Mr. Vinyard:  In consideration of testimony presented during a Public 
Hearing on May 10, 2023 and discussion of the findings of fact, the Planning and Zoning 
Commission recommends approval to the City Council a request for rezoning from R-2 
Single-Family and R-2D Duplex PUD (Bristol Ridge) to A-1 Agricultural District for the 
purpose of constructing a freestanding solar energy system, or solar farm, contingent 
upon approval of annexation agreement amendment for the Bristol Ridge Development  
by the City Council, for a property generally located north of the Burlington Northern  
Santa Fe railroad line and east of Cannonball Trail. 
Roll call:  Williams-yes, Horaz-yes, Millen-yes, Olson-yes, Vinyard-yes.  Passed 5-0.  
           
VARIANCE:  Motion by Mr. Vinyard, second by Mr. Williams to approve. 
Motion read by Mr. Williams:  In consideration of testimony presented during a Public 
Hearing on May 10, 2023 and discussion of the findings of fact, the Planning and Zoning 
Commission recommends approval to the City Council a request for variance from 
Section 10-19-7-D of the Yorkville Municipal Code to reduce the minimum clearance 
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between the lowest point of a freestanding solar panel and the surface on which the 
system is mounted from ten feet to two feet, contingent upon approval of annexation 
agreement amendment for the Bristol Ridge Development by the City Council, for a 
property generally located north of the Burlington Northern Santa Fe railroad line and 
east of Cannonball Trail. 
Roll call:  Horaz-yes, Millen-yes, Olson-yes, Vinyard-yes, Williams-yes.  Passed 5-0. 
 
 
MOTIONS FOR PZC 2023-03 BRISTOL RIDGE SOLAR FARM 106 
 
SPECIAL USE:  Motion by Mr. Vinyard, second by Mr. Williams to approve. 
Motion read by Mr. Williams:  In consideration of testimony presented during a Public 
Hearing on May 10, 2023 and discussion of the findings of fact, the Planning and Zoning 
Commission recommends approval to the City Council a request for Special Use 
authorization to construct a freestanding solar energy system, or solar farm, contingent 
upon approval of annexation agreement amendment for the Bristol Ridge Development 
by the City Council, for a property generally located south of Galena Road and east of 
Cannonball Trail, subject to staff recommendations in a memo dated July 5, 2023 and 
further subject to removal of allium as a proposed plant material in the landscape plan 
and the increase of the inflation rate above 3% as recommended by staff. 
Roll call:  Millen-yes, Olson-yes, Vinyard-yes, Williams-yes, Horaz-yes.  Passed 5-0. 
 
REZONING:  Motion by Mr. Williams, second by Mr. Vinyard to approve.  
Motion read by Mr. Vinyard:  In consideration of testimony presented during a Public 
Hearing on May 10, 2023 and discussion of the findings of fact, the Planning and Zoning 
Commission recommends approval to the City Council a request for rezoning from R-2 
Single-Family and R-3 Townhome PUD (Bristol Ridge) to A-1 Agricultural District for 
the purpose of constructing a freestanding solar energy system, or solar farm, contingent 
upon approval of annexation agreement amendment for the Bristol Ridge Development 
by the City Council, for a property generally located south of Galena Road and east of 
Cannonball Trail. 
Roll call:  Horaz-yes, Millen-yes, Olson-yes, Vinyard-yes, Williams-yes.  Passed 5-0. 
 
VARIANCE:  Motion by Mr. Vinyard, second by Mr. Williams to approve. 
Motion read by Mr. Williams: In consideration of testimony presented during a Public 
Hearing on May 10, 2023 and discussion of the findings of fact, the Planning and Zoning 
Commission recommends approval to the City Council a request for variance from  
Section 10-19-7-D of the Yorkville Municipal Code to reduce the minimum clearance 
between the lowest point of a freestanding solar panel and the surface on which the 
system is mounted from ten feet to two feet, contingent upon approval of annexation 
agreement amendment for the Bristol Ridge Development by the City Council, for a  
property generally located south of Galena Road and east of Cannonball Trail.  
Roll call:  Millen-yes, Olson-yes, Vinyard-yes, Williams-yes, Horaz-yes.  Passed 5-0. 
 
New Business: 

1. PZC 2023-04 Trinity Church (see details under Public Hearings) 
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2. PZC 2023-06  Elizabeth Chapa, My Bristol Dream Events 
 Documents not submitted, case not heard at this meeting. 
 
Additional Business  None 
  
Adjournment 
There was no further business and the meeting was adjourned at  7:41pm on a  
unanimous voice vote.   
 
Respectfully submitted by  
Marlys Young, Minute Taker  
 
            
 
            
 
 
           
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
           



APPLICATION FOR
SIGN VARIANCE

United City of Yorkville 
800 Game Farm Road
Yorkville, Illinois, 60560
Telephone:  630-553-4350 
Fax:  630-553-7575 
Website:  www.yorkville.il.us

SIGN VARIANCE STANDARDS

WAS THE SIGN ERECTED LEGALLY WITH A SIGN PERMIT?

ARE THERE LIMITED AVAILABLE LOCATIONS FOR SIGNAGE ON THE PROPERTY?

DOES THE SIGN FACE A STREET WITH A FORTY (40) MILE PER HOUR OR HIGHER SPEED LIMIT?

IS THE SIGN ON A STREET WITH TWENTY THOUSAND (20,000) OR HIGHER VEHICLE TRIPS PER DAY?

IS THE SIGN ON A WALL FACING A PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY WITHOUT A PUBLIC ENTRANCE?

WOULD THE SIGN BE BLOCKED BY EXISTING OR REQUIRED LANDSCAPING?

PLEASE STATE THE VARIANCE REQUESTED AND THE CITY ORDINANCE INCLUDING THE SECTION NUMBERS TO BE VARIED: 

PLEASE STATE HOW THE PROPOSED VARIATION WILL NOT IMPAIR AN ADEQUATE SUPPLY OF LIGHT AND AIR TO ADJACENT PROPERTY, OR SUBSTANTIALLY 
INCREASE THE CONGESTION IN THE PUBLIC STREETS, OR INCREASE THE DANGER TO THE PUBLIC SAFETY, OR SUBSTANTIALLY DIMINISH OR IMPAIR PROPERTY 
VALUES WITHIN THE NEIGHBORHOOD:

PLEASE CONFIRM THE PROPOSED VARIATION IS CONSISTENT WITH THE OFFICIAL COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AND OTHER DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS AND 
POLICIES OF THE CITY.

YES NO

YES

YES

YES

YES

YES

NO

NO

NO

NO

NO

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

10-20-8-A(1) Permitted Signs; Agricultural and Residential Zoning Districts: Freestanding identification or business signs. 

 Sign 1 - Increase maximum height from 5 feet to 7 feet; increase maximum sign area for a message board sign from 50% to 
54% 

Sign 2 - Increase the number of permitted monument signs from one (1) to two (2); Increase the maximum height from 5 feet to 
5 feet 3 inches. 

10-20-8-B Temporary Signs 
Permit a banner sign as a temporary sign in the residential district according to the standards set in Section 10-20-9-B. 

Signs have been moved due to IDOT expansion and in conformance with their requirements. Parcel is large and signs will not 
impede any light or airflow.

This variance is consistent with the comprehensive plan and meets the standards for commercial signage within Yorkville. 



APPLICATION FOR
SIGN VARIANCE

United City of Yorkville 
800 Game Farm Road
Yorkville, Illinois, 60560
Telephone:  630-553-4350 
Fax:  630-553-7575 
Website:  www.yorkville.il.us

SIGN VARIANCE STANDARDS

PLEASE DESCRIBE THE COST TO THE PETITIONER OF COMPLYING WITH THE SIGN ORDINANCE REQUIREMENTS:

IF THERE ARE ANY UNIQUE PHYSICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE PROPERTY, PLEASE DESCRIBE THEM BELOW:

PLEASE STATE HOW THE GRANTING OF THE VARIATION WILL NOT BE DETRIMENTAL TO THE PUBLIC WELFARE OR INJURIOUS TO OTHER PROPERTY OR IM-
PROVEMENTS IN THE NEIGHBORHOOD IN WHICH THE PROPERTY IS LOCATED:

PLEASE STATE HOW THE PARTICULAR SURROUNDINGS, SHAPE OR TOPOGRAPHICAL CONDITIONS OF THE SPECIFIC PROPERTY INVOLVED, A PARTICULAR 
HARDSHIP TO THE OWNER WOULD RESULT, AS DISTINGUISHED FROM A MERE INCONVENIENCE, IF THE STRICT LETTER OF REGULATIONS WAS CARRIED OUT:

Signs had to be moved due to IDOT right of way and IDOT required their placement where they are now located. Combining or 
changing the signs was never  the church's intention as we were content with their location and function. 

No unique characteristics but IDOT needed the space where the original signs were located.

Signs are in similar style and size to existing sings. A variation will not change what has previously been a complying use.

The hardship we have faced is the taking by IDOT of our property for their use of Bridge Street widening. This has required us to 
move our signs against our will according to their specifications.



APPLICATION FOR
SIGN VARIANCE

United City of Yorkville 
800 Game Farm Road
Yorkville, Illinois, 60560
Telephone:  630-553-4350 
Fax:  630-553-7575 
Website:  www.yorkville.il.us

SIGN VARIANCE STANDARDS

PLEASE STATE HOW THE CONDITIONS UPON WHICH THE APPLICATION FOR A VARIATION IS BASED ARE UNIQUE TO THE PROPERTY FOR WHICH THE VARIATION IS SOUGHT AND 
ARE NOT APPLICABLE, GENERALLY, TO OTHER PROPERTY WITHIN THE SAME ZONING CLASSIFICATION:

PLEASE STATE HOW THE ALLEGED DIFFICULTY OR HARDSHIP IS CAUSED BY THIS TITLE AND HAS NOT BEEN CREATED BY ANY PERSON PRESENTLY HAVING AN INTEREST IN 
THE PROPERTY:

AGREEMENT

I VERIFY THAT ALL THE INFORMATION IN THIS APPLICATION IS TRUE TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE.  I UNDERSTAND AND ACCEPT ALL REQUIREMENTS AND FEES AS 
OUTLINED AS WELL AS ANY INCURRED ADMINISTRATIVE AND PLANNING CONSULTANT FEES WHICH MUST BE CURRENT BEFORE THIS PROJECT CAN PROCEED TO THE NEXT 
SCHEDULED COMMITTEE MEETING.

I UNDERSTAND ALL OF THE INFORMATION PRESENTED IN THIS DOCUMENT AND UNDERSTAND THAT IF AN APPLICATION BECOMES DORMANT IT IS THROUGH MY OWN FAULT 
AND I MUST THEREFORE FOLLOW THE REQUIREMENTS OUTLINED ABOVE.

       PETITIONER SIGNATURE           DATE

       OWNER SIGNATURE           DATE

OWNER HEREBY AUTHORIZES THE PETITIONER TO PURSUE THE APPROPRIATE ENTITLEMENTS ON THE PROPERTY.

THIS APPLICATION MUST BE 
NOTARIZED PLEASE NOTARIZE HERE: 

This is a result of the IDOT taking.

The signs were considered legally nonconforming by the code as they were installed prior to the current standards. The only 
reason for moving the signs was due to the IDOT taking. Also, we are a non residential use within the R-1 district and are not a 
dwelling.

3-29-2023
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UNITED CITY OF YORKVILLE

YORKVILLE, ILLINOIS

 PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

PUBLIC HEARING

651 Prairie Pointe Drive 

Yorkville, Illinois

Wednesday, July 12, 2023

7:00 p.m.
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PRESENT: 

Mr. Jeff Olson, Chairman,

Ms. Deborah Horaz, 

Mr. Richard Vinyard.

Mr. Danny Williams, 

Mr. Greg Millen.

ALSO PRESENT:  

Ms. Krysti Barksdale-Noble, Community 

Development Director;

Ms. Marlys Young, Minute Taker.

 - - - - -

I N D E X

WITNESS: PAGE

BOB LLOYD 6

- - - - -
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(WHEREUPON, the following 

 proceedings were had in public

 hearing:)  

CHAIRMAN OLSON:  There are two public 

hearings scheduled for tonight's Planning and 

Zoning Commission meeting; one of them, however, 

we are not hearing tonight, the request for Chapa 

d/b/a as My Bristol Dream Events, did not get 

their information in in time for the meeting, so 

we won't be actually hearing that tonight.  If 

anybody was waiting for that, take it easy, no 

hard feelings.  

What we are hearing tonight is PZC 

2023-04 Trinity Church United Methodist, their 

petition for sign variance.  

The purpose tonight of this hearing 

is to invite testimony from members of the public 

regarding the proposed request that is being 

considered before the Commission tonight.  

Public testimony from persons 

present who wish to speak may be for or may be 

against the request or to ask questions of 

petitioner regarding the request being heard.  

Those persons wishing to testify 
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tonight are asked to speak clearly, one at a 

time, and state your name, who you represent.  

You are also asked to sign in at the podium if 

you haven't done it already.  

If you plan to speak during 

tonight's public hearing tonight as a petitioner 

or a member of the public, please stand now, 

raise your right hand, and repeat after me.  

(Witnesses sworn.) 

CHAIRMAN OLSON:  Thank you.  You may be 

seated.  All right.  

The order of tonight for how we do 

this during public hearing will be as follows:  

The petitioner will make the individual 

presentation for what they are presenting, and 

then those who wish to speak in favor of the 

request will speak and then those who wish to 

speak in opposition to the request may speak.  

So with that out of the way, may I 

have a motion, please, to open the public hearing 

on petition PZC 2022-04 (sic), Trinity Church 

United Methodist? 

MR. VINYARD:  So moved.  

MR. WILLIAMS:  Second.  
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CHAIRMAN OLSON:  Roll call vote on the 

motion, please.  

MS. YOUNG:  Yes.  Millen.

MR. MILLEN:  Yes.

MS. YOUNG:  Olson.

CHAIRMAN OLSON:  Yes.

MS. YOUNG:  Vinyard.

MR. VINYARD:  Yes.

MS. YOUNG:  Williams.

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.  

MS. YOUNG:  And Horaz.  

MS. HORAZ:  Yes.  

CHAIRMAN OLSON:  All right.  The public 

hearing up for discussion tonight is as follows: 

Trinity Church United Methodist has filed an 

application with the United City of Yorkville, 

Kendall County, Illinois, requesting sign 

variance approval to move their three existing 

non-conforming on-site signs to new locations on 

the property due to the future widening of Bridge 

Street by the Illinois Department of 

Transportation.  

The property is at 2505 Boomer Lane 

at the southeast corner of Cannonball Trail and 
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Route 47 in Yorkville, Illinois.

Is the petitioner for PZC 2024-04 

(sic), Trinity Church, present and prepared to 

make their presentation?

(No response.) 

CHAIRMAN OLSON:  Is this our Zoom 

person?

MS. NOBLE:  He's right there.  Did you 

want to go to the podium and just introduce 

yourself?  

BOB LLOYD,

having been first duly sworn, testified from the 

podium as follows:

MR. LLOYD:  Hi.  I'm Bob Lloyd from 

Trinity Methodist Church, chairman of the 

trustees, and we never intended to move the 

signs, but IDOT is widening Route 47 and we -- 

they acquired our land along there, the western 

section of our property, so we had to move the 

signs that were in their right-of-way, and they 

came out and pinpointed where we had to put our 

signs.  

Is there any more questions or 

anything you wanted to talk about?  Okay.  Thank 
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you.  

MS. NOBLE:  That's all.  

CHAIRMAN OLSON:  Thank you.  All right.  

Is there anyone who wishes to speak in favor of 

the sign variance approval request?

(No response.) 

CHAIRMAN OLSON:  Is there anyone who 

wishes to speak in opposition?  

(No response.) 

CHAIRMAN OLSON:  All right.  Seeing as 

there are none, do we have any questions from the 

Commissioners for the petitioner right now?  

(No response.) 

CHAIRMAN OLSON:  Okay.  Since all 

testimony regarding this petition has been taken, 

may I have a motion, please, then to close the 

taking of testimony in the public hearing? 

MR. VINYARD:  So moved.  

MR. WILLIAMS:  Second. 

CHAIRMAN OLSON:  Roll call vote on the 

motion, please, ma'am.  

MS. YOUNG:  Yes.  Millen.  

MR. MILLEN:  Yes.

MS. YOUNG:  Olson.
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CHAIRMAN OLSON:  Yes.

MS. YOUNG:  Vinyard.

MR. VINYARD:  Yes.

MS. YOUNG:  Williams.  

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.  

MS. YOUNG:  Horaz.

MS. HORAZ:  Yes. 

CHAIRMAN OLSON:  All right.  The public 

hearing portion of tonight's meeting is closed. 

(Which were all the proceedings had 

 in the public hearing portion of 

 the meeting.)

---o0o---
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )
                  ) SS.
COUNTY OF LASALLE )

I, Christine M. Vitosh, a Certified Shorthand 

Reporter, do hereby certify that I transcribed 

the proceedings had at the pubic hearing and that 

the foregoing, Pages 1 through 9 inclusive, is a 

true, correct and complete computer-generated 

transcript of the proceedings had at the time and 

place aforesaid.

I further certify that my certificate annexed 

hereto applies to the original transcript and 

copies thereof, signed and certified under my 

hand only.  I assume no responsibility for the 

accuracy of any reproduced copies not made under 

my control or direction.

As certification thereof, I have hereunto set 

my hand this 21st day of July, A.D., 2023.

            

Christine M. Vitosh, CSR
Illinois CSR No. 084-002883 
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Background & Request: 

As the Economic Development Committee is aware, there is a trend in industrial users seeking 
expansive tracks of land near rail and interstate road transportation to construct hyper-scaled energy 
related buildings. Recently, Green Door Nexus, purchaser of the Lincoln Prairie property, has an 
interested party exploring the site for such uses as data centers, refrigerated warehouses (cold storage) 
and battery uses (such as electrical vehicle battery manufacturing, charging, and storage). They have 
approached the City about amending the Zoning Code to explicitly permit these uses within the 
manufacturing district. With the recent amendment to the City’s Comprehensive Plan in 2020 to 
designate all the properties along the northern Eldamain Road corridor for manufacturing, staff is 
seeking to improve upon and refine the Zoning Ordinance to address and regulate these emerging 
modern land uses while remaining competitive with the surrounding communities.  

 
Therefore, staff is proposing to amend the text of the zoning ordinance to define and identify 

“Data Centers”, “Refrigerated Warehouse (Cold Storage)”, and “Battery Storage Uses” as permitted 
uses in the M-1 Limited Manufacturing and M-2 General Manufacturing Districts. Additionally, Table 
10.16.03 in Chapter 16 of the Zoning Ordinance will be amended to regulate the minimum number of 
off-street parking spaces needed for these type of Energy Industrial Uses”. These proposed changes are 
planned to be incorporated into the draft of the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO), Green Door 
Nexus has requested that the text amendment run separately and parallel to the UDO review to 
safeguard from any potential delays in the approval process of the UDO. 
 
Research: 

 The following is independent research staff conducted related to each of the proposed uses and 
the zoning implications and impacts to be considered. 

Data Centers 

Data Centers are 
mega-sized structures 
housing networked computer 
system servers for data 
storage, processing, and 
distribution.  According to 
the June 2022 edition of 
Zoning Practice published by 
the American Planning 
Association, “[f]rom the 
exterior, data centers and 
crypto-currency mining 
facilities may be physically 
indistinguishable from many 
commercial or light industrial uses. However, the operational characteristics of these facilities are 

Memorandum 
 

To:  Economic Development Committee   
From: Krysti J. Barksdale-Noble, Community Development Director 
CC: Bart Olson, City Administrator   
Date: July 26, 2023 
Subject: PZC 2023-10 Energy Industrial Uses – Zoning Text Amendment  
 Identifying “Data Center”, “Refrigerated Warehouse (Cold Storage)” and 

“Battery Uses” as permitted uses in all Manufacturing Zoned Districts 
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typically quite distinct… [and] from a planning perspective, the most noteworthy characteristics relate 
to their electricity and water use, noise production, enhanced security needs, and low employment 
densities.”  
 
Refrigerated Warehouses (Cold Storage) 

 Refrigerated Warehouses, commonly known as Cold Storage, are facilities that primarily store 
highly perishable items such as (food, candles, film/artwork, plants, cosmetics, pharmaceuticals, and 
certain textiles). Cold Storage, while not a typical industrial use by itself, since no processing occurs, is 
generally used to prolong, and preserve the shelf life of a food or product, without compromising its 
nutritive or chemical properties. The most common need for cold storage warehousing is from third-
party logistic providers who will store and ship goods on behalf of the producer. 

 

 
Battery Storage Uses 

 According to the U.S. Department of Energy, energy storage systems, usually batteries, are 
essential for all electric vehicles, plug-in hybrid electric vehicles (PHEVs), and hybrid electric vehicles 
(HEVs). The types of batteries used in these energy storage systems are lithium-ion (cellphones, 
laptops, etc.); nickel-metal hybrid (computer and medical equipment); lead-acid and ultracapacitors 
(electric vehicles). As electronic vehicles (EV) become increasingly common, the need for battery 
manufacturing, charging, recycling, and storage uses will expand. 

   



3

Proposed Text Amendment: 

Staff is recommending the following revisions to the Zoning Ordinance regarding Data Center, 
Refrigerated Warehouse (Cold Storage), and Battery Uses: 

1. Amend the Permitted and Special Uses Table in Section 10-06-04 to identify “Data
Center”, “Refrigerated Warehouse (Cold Storage)”, and “Battery Uses” as permitted uses
in the M-1 Limited Manufacturing and M-2 General Manufacturing districts.

2. Amend Section 10-2-3 of the Zoning Ordinance to include the following definitions:

Data Center: “A facility comprised of networked computers, storage systems, and 
computing infrastructure which organizations use to assemble, process, store and 
disseminate data. Cryptocurrency centers, which use networked computers, storage 
systems, and computing infrastructure to manage the flow of digital or virtual 
currencies, shall be included in the definition.” 

Refrigerated Warehouse (Cold Storage): “A facility which is artificially or 
mechanically cooled in order to maintain the integrity and quality of perishable goods.” 

Battery Storage Uses: “A use that enables battery manufacturing, charging, recycling, 
warehousing, storage, and related uses. This may also include uses that derive energy 
from renewable sources, such as wind and solar power, to be collected, stored, and then 
released for later use to an electric grid, power plant or private user.” 

3. Amend the Minimum Off-Street Parking Requirements Table 10.16.03 in Chapter 16 of the
Zoning Ordinance to identify “Energy Industrial Uses - Data Center, Refrigerated Storage
(Cold Storage), and Battery Storage Uses”. Further, staff recommends the Data Center and
Battery Storage Uses shall have a minimum parking requirement of twenty (20) spaces for
buildings over 70,000 square feet in area based upon the uniqueness of the operational
features of these uses which typically do not generate highly staffed employees on site.
Refrigerated Storage (Cold Storage) will meet the parking standards for general industrial
uses.

Staff Recommendation 

Staff recommends approval of the proposed text amendment in order for the current City Code 
to address current development trends and be prepared to meet the needs of future developments. 

Proposed Motion for Amendment: 

In consideration of testimony presented during a Public Hearing on August 9, 2023 and discussions 
conducted at that meeting, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommends approval to the City 
Council a request for a text amendment to Chapter 6: Permitted and Special Uses in the Zoning 
Ordinance to identify “data center”, “refrigerated warehouse (cold storage)”, and “battery uses” as 
permitted uses within the M-1 Limited Manufacturing and M-2 General Manufacturing districts 
and an amendment to Table 10.16.03 in Chapter 16: Off-Street Parking and Loading in the 
Zoning Ordinance related to the uses is proposed, as recommended in a staff memo dated July 26, 
2023, and further subject to {insert any additional conditions of the Planning and Zoning 
Commission}… 

Attachments: 

1. Public Hearing Notice
2. Section 10-2-3 Definitions (redline)
3. Section 10-6-0 Uses Tables (redline)
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4. Table 10.16.03 Minimum Off-Street Parking Requirements (redline) 
5. APA Zoning Practice, Practice Data Centers, published June 2022 
6. Logistics Brew by Stockarea, “What Is Cold Storage & How Does Cold Storage Work?” 
7. Grid-Scale Battery Storage (www.greeningthegrid.org)   



 

PUBLIC NOTICE 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

BEFORE 
THE UNITED CITY OF YORKVILLE  

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 
PZC 2023-10 

 
NOTICE IS HEREWITH GIVEN THAT the United City of Yorkville, Kendall 
County, Illinois, petitioner, is proposing a text amendment to Chapter 6: Permitted 
and Special Uses in the Zoning Ordinance to identify “data center”, “refrigerated 
warehouse (cold storage)”, and “battery uses” as permitted uses within the M-1 
Limited Manufacturing and M-2 General Manufacturing districts. This text 
amendment will provide definitions for the establishment and operation of such uses 
in these zoning districts. Additionally, an amendment to Table 10.16.03 in Chapter 
16: Off-Street Parking and Loading in the Zoning Ordinance related to the uses is 
proposed.  
 
NOTICE IS HEREWITH GIVEN THAT the Planning and Zoning Commission for 
the United City of Yorkville will conduct a public hearing on said application on 
Wednesday, August 9, 2023 at 7 p.m. at the Yorkville City Hall Council Chambers, 
located at 651 Prairie Pointe Drive, Yorkville, Illinois 60560.   
 
The public hearing may be continued from time to time to dates certain without 
further notice being published. 

 
All interested parties are invited to attend the public hearing and will be given an 
opportunity to be heard.  Any written comments should be addressed to the United 
City of Yorkville Community Development Department, City Hall, 651 Prairie 
Pointe Drive, Yorkville, Illinois, and will be accepted up to the date of the public 
hearing. 

 
By order of the Corporate Authorities of the United City of Yorkville, Kendall 
County, Illinois. 
 

JORI BEHLAND 
City Clerk 
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Auction house: A structure, area, or areas within a building used for the public sale of goods, wares, 
merchandise, or equipment to the highest bidder.  

Automobile rental: Leasing or renting of automobiles, motorcycles and light trucks and vans, including 
incidental parking and servicing of vehicles for rent or lease. This definition excludes commercial truck and trailer 
rental.  

Automobile repair: Engine rebuilding or major reconditioning of worn or damaged motor vehicles or trailers; 
collision service, including body, frame or fender straightening or repair and painting of vehicles including 
incidental repairs, replacement of parts, and motor service to automobiles. Automobile repair excludes repair to 
semi‐trucks as defined in this section.  

Bakery, retail: An establishment primarily engaged in the retail sale of baked products. The products may be 
prepared either on‐ or off‐site.  

Bakery, wholesale: A bakery in which there is permitted the production and/or wholesaling of baked goods, 
excluding retail bakery.  

Bank: A building for the custody, loan, or exchange of money, for the extension of credit and for facilitating 
the transmission of funds. This definition includes credit unions, savings and loan facilities, payday loans, personal 
loan agencies.  

Basement: That portion of a building that is partly or completely below grade.  

Battery Storage Uses: A use that enables battery manufacturing, charging, recycling, warehousing, storage, 
and related uses. This may also include uses that derive energy from renewable sources, such as wind and solar 
power, to be collected, stored, and then released for later use to an electric grid, power plant or private user. 

Bed and breakfast inn (B&B): A private, owner/operator occupied residence with guestrooms, providing 
overnight accommodations and a morning meal for compensation to transients/travelers. A bed and breakfast inn 
is operated primarily as a business.  

Billiard parlor: A business establishment for a principal use as a billiard facility.  

Block: A tract of land bounded by streets or, in lieu of a street or streets, by public parks, cemeteries, railroad 
rights‐of‐way, bulkhead lines or shorelines of waterways or corporate boundary lines of municipalities.  

Boat sales and rental: A marine retail sales and service use in which boats are rented or sold.  

Boat storage: A facility where boats are stored including indoor and outdoor. Outdoor facilities shall be 
enclosed by an opaque fence or wall a minimum six feet (6') in height.  

Bowling alley: A business establishment with a principal use for the sport of tenpin bowling which may 
include incidental food services.  

Brewery: An establishment that engages in the manufacture of beer as such terms are defined in the Liquor 
Control Act of 1934, as amended, and has obtained a liquor license from the City.  

Brewpub: A restaurant‐brewery that brews beer primarily for sale in the restaurant and/or bar and is 
dispensed directly from the brewery's storage tanks. Total production capacity shall not exceed one hundred fifty‐
five thousand (155,000) gallons per calendar year.  

Buffer: A strip of land, including landscaping, berms, walls, and fences, that is located between land uses of 
different character and is intended to physically and visually separate one use area from another.  

Buildable area: The space remaining on a building lot after the minimum yard requirements of this title have 
been complied with.  

Building: Any structure with substantial walls and roof securely affixed to the land and entirely separated on 
all sides from any other structure by space or by walls in which there are not communicating doors, windows or 
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Datum point: Any reference point of known or assumed coordinates from which calculation or 
measurements may be taken.  

Data Center: A facility comprised of networked computers, storage systems, and computing infrastructure 
which organizations use to assemble, process, store and disseminate data. Cryptocurrency centers, which use 
networked computers, storage systems, and computing infrastructure to manage the flow of digital or virtual 
currencies, shall be included in the definition. 

Daycare facility: Any childcare facility licensed by the State Department of Children and Family Services 
(DCFS) which regularly provides daycare for less than twenty‐four (24) hours per day for more than three (3) 
children under the age of twelve (12) in a facility other than a family home, 225 ILCS 10/2.09.  

Daycare facility, adult: Any facility, public or private, regulated by the State of Illinois in accordance with the 
Older Adult Services Act which provides care for less than twenty‐four (24) hours per day for older adults (seniors) 
such as nutritious meals, planned program of activities, and social and health related services.  

Daycare facility, part day: Any facility licensed by the State Department of Children and Family Services 
(DCFS) and which is conducted by a church, religious organization or social service agency in which individual 
children are provided care, on an intermittent basis, for up to ten (10) hours per seven (7) day week. Any facility 
which provides intermittent care for up to ten (10) hours per seven (7) day week shall not provide such care for 
more than eight (8) hours in any given day during the seven (7) day week. Any facility which provides intermittent 
care for up to ten (10) hours per seven (7) day week shall provide at least one (1) caregiver per twenty (20) 
children, 225 ILCS 10/2.10.  

Daycare home, group: Any in home childcare service licensed by the State Department of Children and 
Family Services (DCFS) which regularly provides care for less than twenty‐four (24) hours per day for more than 
three (3) and up to a maximum of sixteen (16) children under the age of twelve (12) in a family home. The number 
of children allowed includes the family's natural or adopted children and all other persons under the age of twelve 
(12), 225 ILCS 10/2.20.  

Daycare, in home: Any in home childcare service licensed by the State Department of Children and Family 
Services (DCFS) which regularly provides care for less than twenty‐four (24) hours per day for more than three (3) 
and up to a maximum of twelve (12) children under the age of twelve (12) in a family home. The term does not 
include facilities which receive only children from a single household, 225 ILCS 10/2.09.  

Decibel (dB): A unit of measurement of the intensity (loudness) of sound. Sound level meters which are 
employed to measure the intensity of sound are calibrated in "decibels".  

Density, gross: A ratio of the total number of dwelling units on a site, divided by the total acreage of the site, 
to include streets, schools, parks, etc., expressed as dwelling units per acre.  

Density, net: A ratio of the total number of dwelling units on a site, divided by the number of acres used 
exclusively for a residential type acreage not to include schools, parks, streets, etc., expressed as dwelling units per 
acre.  

Department store: A retail business which is conducted under a single owner's name wherein a variety of 
unrelated merchandise and services are housed enclosed and are exhibited and sold directly to the consumer for 
whom the goods and services are furnished.  

Displacement (Earth): The amplitude or intensity of an earthborn vibration measured in inches. The 
displacement or amplitude is one‐half (½) the total earth movement.  

District: A section or part of the unincorporated portion of the City for which the use regulations are uniform.  

Drive‐through service establishment: A business or establishment which provides all or some of its services 
through a building opening or window to its patrons who remain in their vehicles.  
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Recreational camp private: An establishment consisting of permanent buildings used periodically by an 
association of persons where seasonal accommodations for recreational purposes are provided only to the 
members of such association and not to anyone who may apply.  

Recreational vehicle: Any type of vehicle used primarily for recreational pleasure or bearing recreational 
vehicle registration license plates. Examples include, but are not limited to, motor homes, boats, snowmobiles, and 
all‐terrain vehicles.  

Refrigerated Warehouse (Cold Storage): “A facility which is artificially or mechanically cooled in order to 
maintain the integrity and quality of perishable goods.” 

Refuse: All waste products resulting from human habitation, except sewage.  

Religious institution, large: A building, having four hundred (400) or more seats or larger than eight thousand 
(8,000) square feet of total gross floor area, wherein persons regularly assemble for religious worship and which is 
maintained and controlled by a religious body organized to sustain public worship, together with all accessory 
buildings and uses customarily associated with such primary purpose. Includes church, synagogue, temple, mosque 
or other such place for worship and religious activities.  

Religious institution, small: A building, having four hundred (400) or fewer seats or no larger than eight 
thousand (8,000) square feet of total gross floor area, wherein persons regularly assemble for religious worship 
and which is maintained and controlled by a religious body organized to sustain public worship, together with all 
accessory buildings and uses customarily associated with such primary purpose. Includes church, synagogue, 
temple, mosque or other such place for worship and religious activities.  

Resale dealer: Any individual, firm, corporation or partnership engaged in the business of operating a 
business for profit which buys, sells, possesses on consignment for sale or trades jewelry, stamps, audio‐video 
equipment or any precious metals which may have been previously owned by a consumer; or which derives more 
than thirty‐five percent (35%) of its gross receipts from the sale, consignment for sale, pledge or trade of any 
goods, wares or merchandise which have previously been owned by a consumer, including, but not limited to, 
furniture, appliances, clothing, automobile accessories, books or metals, whether in bulk or manufactured state.  

A.  The term "resale dealer" shall include, but not be limited to, businesses commonly known as swapshop 
operators, stamp dealers, coin dealers and jewelers that purchase and resell items from persons other 
than dealers and suppliers and engage in disassembling, melting and otherwise altering jewelry. The 
term "resale dealer" shall not include pawnbrokers.  

B.  The fact that any business does any of the following acts shall be prima facie proof that such business is 
a resale dealer:  

1.  Advertise in any fashion that it buys or sells used items. Such advertisements shall include, but 
not be limited to, media advertisements, websites, telephone listings, and signs whether in the 
exterior or interior of business.  

2.  Devotes a significant segment or section of the business premises to the purchase or sale of used 
items.  

Research laboratory: A building or group of buildings in which are located facilities for scientific research, 
investigation, testing or experimentation, but not facilities for the manufacture or sale of products, except as 
incidental to the main purpose of the laboratory.  

Residence: The act or condition of residing or dwelling in a place.  

Rest home: See definition of Nursing home. 

Restaurant: Any land, building or part thereof where meals are provided for compensation, including a cafe, 
cafeteria, coffee shop, lunchroom, drive‐in stand, tearoom and dining room, and including the serving of alcoholic 
beverages when served with and incidental to the serving of meals, where permitted.  
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2.  See section 10‐6‐1, "Special Conditions", of this chapter.  

(Ord. 2014‐73, 11‐25‐2014; amd. Ord. 2015‐32, 6‐9‐2015; Ord. 2015‐33, 6‐9‐2015; Ord. 2016‐35, 4‐26‐2016; Ord. 
2017‐02, 1‐24‐2017; Ord. 2017‐32, 5‐23‐2017; Ord. 2019‐08, 1‐29‐2019; Ord. 2019‐13, 2‐26‐2019; Ord. 2022‐22 , § 
3, 6‐14‐2022) 

TABLE 10.06.04 
MANUFACTURING USES 

Use Category  Zoning Districts 

Ag  Open 
Space 

Residential  Business  Manufacturing 

A‐
1 

OS‐
1 

OS‐
2 

E‐
1 

R‐
1 

R‐
2 

R‐
2D 

R‐
3 

R‐
4 

O  B‐
1 

B‐
2 

B‐
3 

B‐
4 

M‐1  M‐2 

Any assembly, 
production, 
manufacturing, 
testing, 
repairing or 
processing 
that can and 
does operate 
in compliance 
with 
performance 
standards1  

‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   P   P  

Aggregate 
materials 
extraction, 
processing and 
site 
reclamation 
(stone and 
gravel 
quarries)  

‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   S  

Bakery 
(wholesale ‐ 
retail 
component 
special use)  

‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   P   P  

Battery Uses  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  P  P 

Blacksmith or 
welding shop  

S   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   P   P  

Data Center  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  P  P 

Manufacturer 
of firearms and 
ammunition  

‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   P   P  
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Medical 
cannabis 
cultivation 
center and 
dispensaries1  

‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   S   S  

Refrigerated 
Warehouse 
(Cold Storage) 

‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐  P  P 

Research 
laboratories  

‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   P   P  

Wholesaling 
and 
warehousing ‐ 
local cartage 
express 
facilities ‐ not 
including 
motor freight 
terminal  

‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   P   P  

 

P = Permitted use   S = Special use   ‐ = Not permitted use  

 

Notes:  

1.  See section 10‐6‐1, "Special Conditions", of this chapter.  

TABLE 10.06.05 
TRANSPORTATION USES 

Use 
Category 

Zoning Districts 

Ag  Open 
Space 

Residential  Business  Manufacturing 

A‐
1 

OS‐
1 

OS‐
2 

E‐
1 

R‐
1 

R‐
2 

R‐
2D 

R‐
3 

R‐
4 

O  B‐
1 

B‐
2 

B‐
3 

B‐
4 

M‐1  M‐2 

Airport   S   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   S   S  

Bus or truck 
garage or 
streetcar 
house  

‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   P   P  

Bus or truck 
storage yard  

‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   P   P  

Marina   ‐   ‐   S   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   S   S   S   S   S  

Motor 
freight 
terminals  

‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   ‐   S   S  
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7.  Lighting: Any lighting used to illuminate off‐street parking areas shall be directed away from residential 
properties and public highways in such a way as not to create a nuisance. The City of Yorkville 
promotes the "dark sky" concept. Lighting fixtures should be full cutoff, and the use of wall packs on 
buildings should be minimized.  

The average foot‐candle intensity should be two to two and one‐half (2.0—2.5) foot‐candles. The 
average to minimum light intensity ratio should be no more than six to one (6:1), and the maximum to 
minimum light intensity ratio should be no more than twenty to one (20:1). The lighting intensity at the 
property line shall be zero foot‐candles.  

8.  Signs: Directional and regulatory signs/markings only are permitted on parking areas.  

9.  Repair and service: No motor vehicle repair work of any kind shall be permitted in conjunction with 
accessory off‐street parking facilities provided in a residence district.  

The sale of gasoline and motor oil in conjunction with accessory off‐street parking facilities is not permitted 
in any residence district.  

E.  Location: Off‐street parking spaces may be located in any yard defined by this title.  

The location of off‐street parking spaces in relation to the use served shall be as prescribed hereinafter. All 
distances specified shall be walking distances between such parking spaces and a main entrance to the use served.  

1.  Residence district: Parking spaces accessory to dwellings shall be located on the same zoning lot as the 
use served. Spaces accessory to uses other than dwellings may be located on a lot adjacent to, or 
directly across a street or alley from the lot occupied by the use served, but in no case at a distance in 
excess of three hundred feet (300') from such use.  

2.  Business and manufacturing districts: All required parking spaces shall be within one thousand feet 
(1,000') of the use served, except for spaces accessory to dwelling units (except those located in a 
transient hotel) which shall be within three hundred feet (300') of the use served. However, no parking 
spaces accessory to a use in a business or manufacturing district shall be located in a residence district 
unless authorized by the Board of Appeals in accordance with this title.  

F.  Number of spaces: The minimum requirements for the number of spaces needed for a certain use is shown in 
Table 10.16.03 of this section. At the time of permit review, the Zoning Administrator will assign the 
development a use category. If the category does not fit one of the descriptions in Table 10.16.03 of this 
section, then the Zoning Administrator has the right to determine the amount of off‐street parking needed 
for the building, structure, or use.  

TABLE 10.16.03 
MINIMUM OFF‐STREET PARKING REQUIREMENTS 

Use  Minimum Spaces Required 

Residential uses: 

  Single‐family dwelling unit   2 per dwelling unit  

  Multi‐family dwelling unit:    

  Dwelling units with 1,000 square feet or 
less  

2 per dwelling unit  

  Dwelling units with 1,001 square feet or 
more  

2 per dwelling unit  

  Accessory dwelling unit   1 per dwelling unit  

  Elderly housing   0.5 per dwelling unit  
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  Lodging places:    

  Bed and breakfast   1 per lodging unit plus 1 space for permanent 
residence  

  Motel, hotel, boarding house   1 per lodging unit  

Commercial uses: 

  Bulk retail: building materials, appliances, 
home furnishings, and similar large items  

1 per 1,000 square feet of floor area  

  Commercial services   3 per 1,000 square feet of floor area  

  Eating and drinking establishments   3 per 1,000 square feet of floor area  

  Gas stations   No minimum  

  General office (including banks)   2 per 1,000 square feet of floor area  

  General retail: grocery stores, convenience 
stores, specialty retail and shops  

3 per 1,000 square feet of floor area  

  Indoor recreation   2 per 1,000 square feet of floor area  

  Mortuary or funeral home   1 per 5 seats  

  Personal services   3 per 1,000 square feet of floor area  

  Theater, auditorium, or stadium   1 per 4 seats  

  Vehicle repair   2 per 1,000 square feet of floor area  

Energy Industrial Uses:   

Battery Storage   

Less than 70,000 square feet  Minimum 20 parking spaces 

More than 70,001 square feet  0.3 per 1,000 square feet of floor area 

Data Center   

Less than 70,000 square feet  Minimum 20 parking spaces 

More than 70,001 square feet  0.3 per 1,000 square feet of floor area 

Refrigerated Warehouse (Cold Storage)   

Less than 150,000 square feet  0.5 per 1,000 square feet of floor area 

More than 150,001 square feet  0.3 per 1,000 square feet of floor area 

Industrial uses: 

  Miniwarehouse, self‐service storage   1 per 45 storage units plus 1 per employee of 
the largest shift  

  Storage, warehouse, wholesale 
establishment:  

 

  Less than 150,000 square feet   0.5 per 1,000 square feet of floor area  

  More than 150,001 square feet   0.3 per 1,000 square feet of floor area  

Community services, institutional uses and public uses: 

  Elementary and junior high school   1 per classroom  

  High school   0.25 per student plus 1 per staff  

  Hospitals, sanatoriums, and other 
institutional uses  

1 per 2 beds, plus 1 per 2 employees and 1 
per doctor  
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Zoning for Data Centers and 
Cryptocurrency Mining
By David Morley, aicp

Data centers are the physical facilities where 
the internet lives. Fundamentally, they con-
sist of networked computer systems used 
for data storage and processing, along with 
supporting equipment, such as batteries, 
back-up power generators, and cooling 
devices. Modern data centers are the direct 
descendants of the, so-called, telecom hotels 
that began springing up in downtowns in the 
late 1990s to accommodate the rapid expan-
sion of the commercial internet and, before 
that, of automated telephone exchange 
facilities that made it possible to place land-
line telephone calls across a city, the nation, 
or the world (Evans-Cowley 2002).

An emerging segment of the data center 
market consists of facilities dedicated in 
whole or part to “mining” cryptocurrency. 
A cryptocurrency is a decentralized digital 
currency that uses encrypted data strings to 
denote individual units, or coins, and a peer-
to-peer database known as a blockchain to 
maintain a secure ledger of transactions. 
Several of the most popular cryptocurren-
cies, most notably Bitcoin, require extremely 
complex computations to verify each trans-
action and add a record, or block, for that 
transaction to the blockchain. Whoever 
verifies a transaction first receives a new 
cryptocurrency coin as a reward. While, theo-
retically, anyone with a computer server can 
“mine” new coins by helping to verify these 
transactions, large-scale cryptocurrency 
mining requires a massive amount of com-
puting power.

This article explores the reasons why 
cities, towns, and counties may wish to 
define and regulate data centers and cryp-
tocurrency mining as distinct uses in their 
zoning codes and provides a summary of 
contemporary approaches. It begins with 
a brief overview of the factors that drive 
demand for data centers or cryptocurrency 
mines in particular locations before examin-
ing the key planning issues that may merit 
special attention through zoning and posing 
a series of questions to guide code drafting. 

The article concludes with short profiles of 
local zoning approaches that may serve as 
models for others.

DEMAND DRIVERS
Industry analysts predict sustained growth 
in data center construction in the coming 
years (Dunbar and Bonar 2021). This includes 
demand for larger and larger “hyperscale” 
data centers as well as more widely distrib-
uted “edge” data centers (Sowry et al. 2018). 
Data center developers (or operators) are 
attracted to sites with low latency to end 
users and dependable and affordable elec-
tricity. 

While data centers have historically 
been clustered around major internet access 
points, information technology companies, 
and government employment centers, the 
proliferation of cloud computing and the 
internet of things is pushing demand out 
to network edges. This means more data 
centers in smaller metropolitan and nonmet-
ropolitan areas.

Big technology companies are likely to 
continue looking for sites that can accommo-
date new, large single-story structures. But 

operators that specialize in leasing space in 
the same facility to multiple companies (i.e., 
collocated data centers) may be more open 
to infill sites and existing structures, espe-
cially if those sites have access to fiber optic 
infrastructure. 

Data centers use a lot of electricity 
(see below) to power processing and stor-
age hardware and to keep that hardware 
cool. The amount of electricity (and often 
water) needed for cooling is higher in warm, 
humid climates than in cool, dry areas. 
Consequently, holding other factors equal, 
developers favor locations with low electric-
ity rates and cooler climates. Furthermore, 
because these facilities operate continu-
ously, developers are also looking for sites 
that are less vulnerable to natural hazards.

Cryptocurrency miners are also look-
ing for locations with cheap electricity and 
low hazard risk; however, dedicated mining 
facilities are not concerned about proxim-
ity to customers and are less likely to invest 
in backup power. While there seems to be 
a widespread consensus that data centers 
are essential to global communications and 
the global economy, cryptocurrency miners 
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A hyperscale Google data center in Council Bluffs, Iowa.
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have a more limited “social license” to oper-
ate. Widespread concerns about the energy 
use of mines and the limited utility of the 
coins they produce has led some countries, 
including China, to ban Bitcoin mining. Con-
sequently, many cryptocurrency miners are 
relocating to the U.S. (Obando 2022).

PLANNING ISSUES
From the exterior, data centers and crypto-
currency mining facilities may be physically 
indistinguishable from many commercial 
or light industrial uses. However, the 
operational characteristics of these facili-
ties are typically quite distinct from those 
of surrounding land uses. From a planning 
perspective, the most noteworthy character-
istics relate to their electricity and water use, 
noise production, enhanced safety and secu-
rity needs, and low employment densities.

They Use a Lot of Electricity (and Water)
In 2020, data centers used between 200 
and 250 terawatt hours (TWh) of electricity, 
accounting for approximately one percent 
of global consumption (IEA 2021). While 
the total consumption has grown steadily 
along with global power demand, this ratio 
has held relatively constant over the past 
20 years as efficiency improvements have 
proportionally offset increased demand 
from data centers. However, this pattern 
is unlikely to hold as growth in streaming 
video, online gaming, cloud computing, 
machine learning, virtual reality, and the 
internet of things begins to outstrip effi-
ciency improvements.

The figures above exclude cryptocur-
rency mining. Bitcoin miners alone used an 
estimated additional 60 to 70 TWh in 2020. 
According to Cambridge University, if Bitcoin 
was country, it’s annual electricity consump-
tion would be slightly higher than that of 
Poland or Malaysia (2022).

Data center and cryptocurrency mining 
equipment also generates a tremendous 
amount of waste heat, which must be dis-
sipated by fans or absorbed by a cooling 
medium to avoid hardware damage and 
ensure efficient operations. Many data cen-
ters and cryptocurrency mines use water as 
a cooling medium. Water is also necessary 
for most forms of electricity production. In 
aggregate, a medium-sized data center typi-
cally uses more water each year than two 
18-hole golf courses (Mytton 2021).

They Can Be Noisy
Inside a data center or cryptocurrency mine 
server room, the noise can make it difficult to 
carry on a conversation at a normal volume. 
While most data centers and large crypto-
currency mines incorporate construction 
and soundproofing techniques that ensure 
this server noise isn’t audible outside of 
the building, air conditioner compressors 
mounted on the roof or on ground near these 
facilities can generate noise that carries 
across property lines.

In some contexts, vegetation or other 
structures may rapidly attenuate this 
sound. In others, the sound may travel over 
long distances. Obviously, the degree to 
which these sounds constitute nuisance 
“noise” depends on surrounding land uses 
and ambient noise levels. The problem is 
typically most acute when data centers or 
mines are near residences.

They Have Enhanced Safety and Security Needs
Data centers typically aim to run con-
tinuously, and any outage or downtime can 
threaten business operations. Furthermore, 
data centers house expensive, highly 
specialized hardware, and many handle 
sensitive data. Consequently, most data 
centers incorporate enhanced safety and 
security features, such as gated access 
points, fencing, or bright lighting, to prevent 
unauthorized access and to minimize the 
likelihood of disruption. 

Cryptocurrency mines have similar 
safety and security needs, with two key 
distinctions. First, miners want to maintain 
network access, but the stakes are lower 

than for data centers because an outage 
wouldn’t negatively affect any other services 
or users. Second, cryptocurrency mines gen-
erally aren’t receiving any clients and have 
little incentive to draw attention to them-
selves with fencing or lighting.

They Have a Low Employment Density
Data centers typically have far fewer workers 
per square foot than professional offices or 
light industrial facilities (Tarczynska 2016). 
And cryptocurrency mines generally have 
even lower employment densities than data 
centers. For some communities, data centers 
(and potentially cryptocurrency mines) are 
highly desirable from an economic devel-
opment perspective because they often 
generate a large property tax surplus that 
can subsidize more service-intensive land 
uses, such as single-family homes. Others, 
however, are reluctant to devote too much 
commercial or light industrial space to uses 
that generate few jobs.

ZONING CONSIDERATIONS
Any community interested in regulating data 
centers and cryptocurrency mining through 
zoning should consider three key questions:

1.	 Do these uses need new use definitions?

2.	 Where should these uses be permitted?

3.	 Do these uses need special development 
or performance standards?

Do They Need New Use Definitions?
New land uses don’t necessarily require new 
use definitions in the local zoning code. It 
depends, in part, on whether the use fits 
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The roof of eBay’s Topaz data center in South Jordan, Utah.
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neatly under a broader use category or is 
substantially like another defined use. And 
it depends on whether treating the new use 
the same as this use category or other simi-
lar use would be likely to generate negative 
effects on nearby properties or the commu-
nity as a whole.

Many communities have defined data 
centers (or some closely analogous term) as 
a distinct use in their zoning codes. These 
definitions typically reference the general 
function of the facility and the degree to 
which it is occupied by computer systems 
and related equipment. For example, Anne 
Arundel County, Maryland, defines data stor-
age center as “a facility used primarily for 
the storage, management, processing, and 
transmission of digital data, which houses 
computer or network equipment, systems, 
servers, appliances, and other associated 
components related to digital data storage 
and operations” (§18-1-101.(44)).

Comparatively fewer communities have 
defined cryptocurrency mining as a distinct 
use. Many of these definitions focus on the 
specialized purpose of the facility, often with 
references to other newly defined terms, 
such as high density load or server farm, 
that clarify its distinct characteristics. For 
example, Moses Lake, Washington, specifies 
that cryptocurrency mining often uses more 
than 250 kilowatt-hours per square foot each 
year (§18.03.040). 

Where Should They Be Permitted?
Communities that choose to regulate data 
centers or cryptocurrency mines as distinct 
uses may permit these uses either by right 
or with a discretionary use permit (i.e., 
conditional, special, or special exception 
use permits) in one or more existing base or 
overlay zoning districts. Alternatively, they 
may elect to establish a new special-purpose 
base or overlay zoning district for either use.

Many communities permit data centers 
and cryptocurrency mines either by right 
or with a discretionary use permit in com-
mercial and industrial districts. While data 
centers and mines can fit in a wide range of 
existing commercial or industrial buildings, 
purpose-built facilities are often single-story 
structures with large floorplates. 

Given that they generally have few 
employees and visitors, these uses may 
not be appropriate in ground-floor street-
frontage spaces in pedestrian-oriented 

commercial areas. Wenatchee, Washington, 
addresses this issue by permitting data 
centers and cryptocurrency mines by right 
in multiple pedestrian-oriented commercial 
districts, with a simple stipulation that they 
cannot occupy “grade level commercial 
street frontage” (§10.10.020).

A new special-purpose zoning district 
can help steer data centers or cryptocurrency 
mines toward corridors or other subareas 
that have suitable utility infrastructure. 
When adopted as floating zones, special 
districts can also provide an extra layer of 
review for large projects that may cover doz-
ens or hundreds of acres.

Prince William County, Virginia, added 
a Data Center Opportunity Zone Overlay Dis-
trict to its zoning code in 2016 (§32-509). The 
county has mapped this overlay to more than 
70 percent of its industrially zoned land. The 
overlay permits data centers and includes 
design standards for these facilities; however, 
it does not otherwise modify the existing use 
permissions for underlying districts.

Do They Need Special Development or 
Performance Standards?
Communities that decide to regulate data 
centers or cryptocurrency mines as distinct 
uses may choose to adopt use-specific 
standards that modify or supplement other 
relevant universal or district-specific devel-
opment or performance standards. This 
approach can help communities target stan-
dards to the distinct features of these uses 

to address specific community concerns.
Use-specific standards can help mini-

mize reliance on discretionary approvals and 
improve the consistency of local decisions. 
Without these standards, local officials may 
be more likely to require all data centers and 
cryptocurrency mines to obtain a discretion-
ary use permit, and they may be more likely 
to adopt wildly varying conditions of approval 
for substantially similar proposals.

Communities that have adopted use-
specific standards for data centers and 
cryptocurrency mines often establish building 
design and buffering or screening require-
ments to minimize the visibility or improve 
the appearance of these facilities from public 
streets or nearby properties. Other common 
standards address environmental perfor-
mance, including noise and light pollution, 
and evidence of electric utility approval.

POTENTIAL MODEL APPROACHES
It would be difficult to find a community with 
more experience with data centers than 
Loudon County, Virginia. And the county’s 
approach to zoning for data centers serves as 
a potential model for other communities with 
suitable sites and sufficient infrastructure to 
accommodate data center development. In 
contrast, Missoula County, Montana, was one 
of the first local jurisdictions to craft zoning 
regulations for cryptocurrency mining opera-
tions. And its emphasis on mitigating the 
potential climate impacts represents a differ-
ent type of potential model.  

EXAMPLES OF DEFINED USES
Jurisdiction Defined Uses

Alpharetta, GA Data center (§1.4.2)

Anne Arundel County, MD Data storage center (§18-1-101.(44))

Fairfax County, VA Data center (§9103)

Frederick County, MD Critical digital infrastructure facility (§1-19-11.100)

Moses Lake, WA Cryptocurrency mining; Data center/server farm/cluster 
(§18.03.040)

Pitt County, NC Data processing facility (large scale) (§15)

Plattsburgh, NY Commercial cryptocurrency mining; Server farm; High 
density load service (LL 6-2018)

Prince George’s County, MD Qualified data center (§27-2500)

Prince William County, VA Data center (§32-100)

Somerville, MA Data center (§9.8.b)

Vernal, UT Data center (§16.04.173)

Wenatchee, WA Cryptocurrency mining; Data center (§10.08)

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/annearundel/latest/annearundelco_md/0-0-0-117894
https://moseslake.municipal.codes/Code/18.03.040
https://library.municode.com/va/prince_william_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CH32ZO_ARTVOVDI_PT509DACEOPZOOVDI
https://library.municode.com/ga/alpharetta/codes/unified_development_code?nodeId=ARTIGE_S1.4DE
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/annearundel/latest/annearundelco_md/0-0-0-117894
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/fairfaxcounty-va/doc-viewer.aspx#secid-710
https://frederickcountymd.gov/DocumentCenter/View/335924/Bill-No-22-05--Amendments-to-Ch-1-19-of-FCG-Zoning-Ord---Add-Critical-Digital-Infrastructure-as-a-New-Use
https://moseslake.municipal.codes/Code/18.03.040
https://www.pittcountync.gov/DocumentCenter/View/806/Zoning-Ordinance-PDF-?bidId=
https://www.cityofplattsburgh-ny.gov/sites/cityofplattsburgh.com/files/city-clerk/local-laws/LL-6-2018.pdf
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/princegeorgescounty-md/doc-viewer.aspx#secid-413
https://library.municode.com/va/prince_william_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CH32ZO_ARTITEDE_PT100DE
http://3pb8cv933tuz26rfz3u13x17-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/01/2021-21-31-Somerville-Zoning-Ordinance.pdf
https://vernal.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=Section_16.04.173_Data_Center
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Wenatchee/#!/Wenatchee10/Wenatchee1008.html


ZONINGPRACTICE  6.22
AMERICAN PLANNING ASSOCIATION  | page 5

Loudon County, Virginia
Northern Virginia’s Data Center Alley, pri-
marily clustered around Routes 7 and 267 
in Loudon and Fairfax Counties is the larg-
est data center market in the world (Fray 
and Koutsaris 2022). Its combined power 
consumption capacity is more than 1.6 giga-
watts (GW), nearly twice as much as the next 
largest market. And within Data Center Alley, 
Loudon County has the highest concentra-
tion of data centers. As of October 2021, 
data centers occupied more than 25 million 
square feet, with another 4 million square 
feet in development (LCDED 2022).

Several important factors have driven 
demand for data center development in 
Loudon County. It is home to the Equinix 
internet exchange, one of the largest internet 
access points in the world and a successor to 
Metropolitan Area Exchange, East, the first 

U.S. exchange. The county has abundant 
(and redundant) fiber optic infrastructure, 
relatively cheap power, and sufficient water. 
Additionally, it has a high concentration of 
skilled technology workers and businesses 
that support the data center industry.

By the year 2000, there was already 
an emerging data center cluster in Loudon 
County. However, the county did not define 
and regulate data centers as a distinct use 
in its zoning code until 2014 (ZOAM 2013-
0003). According to Acting Planning & Zoning 
Director James David, prior to this, the county 
defined data centers as commercial offices. 

The latest version of the county’s 
zoning ordinance permits data centers by 
right in Planned Office Park, Research and 
Development Park, Industrial Park, and 
General Industrial districts and as a special 
exception use in Commercial Light Industry 

districts. New data centers (without vested 
rights) must comply with a set of use-specific 
standards governing façade design, screen-
ing of mechanical equipment, exterior 
lighting, pedestrian and bicycle facilities, 
and landscaping, buffering, and screening 
(§5-664). 

According to David, these standards 
are intended to improve the aesthetics of 
data centers, minimize visibility from nearby 
residential areas, and ensure continuous 
sidewalk and trail networks. Overall, they 
represent a light-touch approach that has, 
so far, worked well for a county with enor-
mous demand for data centers and relatively 
modest competition for space from other 
commercial and industrial uses. 

However, in February 2022, county 
officials directed staff to research regulatory 
options to prevent new data centers in the 

EXAMPLES OF USE-SPECIFIC STANDARDS FOR DATA CENTERS AND CRYPTOCURRENCY MINING
Jurisdiction Use-Specific Standards

Alpharetta, GA Requires evidence of compliance with noise standards; specifies exterior lighting fixture design; establishes 
minimum building height; requires building façade design elements; establishes other fencing, screening, and 
landscaping requirements to minimize visibility from adjacent roads and properties (§2.7.2.1)

Anne Arundel County, MD Establishes minimum lot size and setbacks; prohibits residences on the same lot; establishes limit on outdoor 
storage (§18-10-119)

Fairfax County, VA Requires all equipment to be enclosed within a building; establishes maximum floor area by zoning district 
(§4102.6.A)

Frederick County, MD Establishes criteria for reducing setbacks; specifies building design standards; specifies landscaping, 
screening, and buffering requirements; clarifies parking, loading, signage, and lighting standards; establishes 
criteria for private roads; establishes noise and vibration standards (§1-19-8.402)

Moses Lake, WA Clarifies review process for business license; prohibits container storage; requires evidence of electrical 
utility approval; requires evidence of electrical permit and inspection; establishes environmental performance 
standards, addressing noise, heat, and electric and magnetic fields; limits amount of exposed equipment on 
facades (§18.74)

Pitt County, NC Limits height; requires separation from sensitive uses; requires noise study and compliance with noise 
standards; requires underground wiring; requires security fencing and vegetative screening; requires evidence 
of electrical utility approval; clarifies signage standards; requires notification of abandonment (§8(UUUU))

Plattsburgh, NY Requires fire suppression and mitigation techniques; limits internal ambient temperature and the direct 
release of heat on colder days; establishes permissible noise levels (LL 6-2018)

Prince George’s County, VA Requires building façade design elements; specifies exterior lighting fixture design; requires screening for 
security fencing and limits fence height; requires compliance with landscape manual; clarifies applicable off-
street parking standard; clarifies signage standards; requires an acoustical study; specifies additional site, 
locational, and noticing requirements for facilities in rural residential districts (§27-5102(e)(4)(B))

Somerville, MA Establishes special review criteria related to aesthetic impacts and employment opportunities (§9.8.b)

Vernal, UT Requires fencing and structural screening for electrical generators; requires noise mitigation plan for facilities 
near residential zones or existing hotels or motels (§16.20.250)

Wenatchee, WA Clarifies review process for business license; prohibits container storage; requires evidence of electrical utility 
approval; requires evidence of electrical permit and inspection; clarifies blank wall limitation standards; 
requires an affidavit verifying operating sound levels (§18.48.310)

https://lfportal.loudoun.gov/LFPortalinternet/0/edoc/145473/Item%2015a-ZOAM-2013-0003%20Data%20Center%20SR%20final.pdf
https://lfportal.loudoun.gov/LFPortalinternet/0/edoc/145473/Item%2015a-ZOAM-2013-0003%20Data%20Center%20SR%20final.pdf
https://library.municode.com/ga/alpharetta/codes/unified_development_code?nodeId=ARTIIUSLAST_S2.7MIRE
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/annearundel/latest/annearundelco_md/0-0-0-119187
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/fairfaxcounty-va/doc-viewer.aspx#secid-854
https://frederickcountymd.gov/DocumentCenter/View/335924/Bill-No-22-05--Amendments-to-Ch-1-19-of-FCG-Zoning-Ord---Add-Critical-Digital-Infrastructure-as-a-New-Use
https://moseslake.municipal.codes/Code/18.74
https://www.pittcountync.gov/DocumentCenter/View/806/Zoning-Ordinance-PDF-?bidId=
https://www.cityofplattsburgh-ny.gov/sites/cityofplattsburgh.com/files/city-clerk/local-laws/LL-6-2018.pdf
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/princegeorgescounty-md/doc-viewer.aspx#secid-650bk26
http://3pb8cv933tuz26rfz3u13x17-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/01/2021-21-31-Somerville-Zoning-Ordinance.pdf
https://vernal.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=Section_16.20.250_Data_Center
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Wenatchee/#!/Wenatchee10/Wenatchee1048.html


ZONINGPRACTICE  6.22
AMERICAN PLANNING ASSOCIATION  | page 6

Route 7 corridor. While data center demand 
remains high in this area, the county’s 
comprehensive plan designates most of 
this corridor as Suburban Mixed Use, which 
envisions a compact, pedestrian-friendly 
mix of commercial, residential, cultural, and 
recreational uses. Furthermore, the existing 
electricity network infrastructure is insuf-
ficient to accommodate the existing demand 
for new data centers (LCDED 2022).

The county is working on its first com-
plete overhaul of its zoning code since 1993. 
And it intends to incorporate any new regu-
lations for data centers into the new code, 
which officials hope to adopt by the end 
of 2022.

Missoula County, Montana
In April 2019, Missoula County, Montana, 
adopted an interim zoning resolution that 
established a cryptocurrency mining overlay 
(Resolution No. 2019-026). The county had 
one large cryptocurrency mine already, and 
its low electricity rates and cool climate 
made it an attractive area for prospective 
miners. While a few other jurisdictions had 
already defined cryptocurrency mining in 
their zoning codes, Missoula County appears 
to be the first to explicitly position its zoning 
approach as a response to climate change.

According to county planner Jennie 
Dixon, aicp, local officials originally took an 
interest in regulating  cryptocurrency mining 
as a distinct use after multiple complaints of 
noise from cooling fans at an existing Bitcoin 
mine operating out of a former sawmill in 
unincorporated Bonner. Soon, though, the 
county expanded its focus to include energy 
consumption and electronic waste. 

Montana law only authorizes interim 
zoning in the case of an emergency involving 
“public health, safety, morals, or general 
welfare” (§76-2-206). Dixon says the Inter-
governmental Panel on Climate Change’s 
2018 Special Report on Global Warming of 
1.5° C helped justify climate change as a 
local emergency that warranted interim zon-
ing to mitigate greenhouse gas emissions 
(and other potential environmental impacts) 
from cryptocurrency mining.

The interim zoning regulations defined 
cryptocurrency mining as a distinct use and 
created a Cryptocurrency Mining Overlay 
Zone, mapped to the entire unincorporated 
geographic extent of the county (which 
includes some un-zoned areas). The overlay 

restricted cryptocurrency mining opera-
tions to industrial districts and required 
operators to obtain a discretionary use per-
mit if the mine was adjacent to a residential 
district or within 500 feet of a residential 
property boundary. These regulations 
also required all mining operations to 
verify that all electronic waste be handled 
by a licensed recycling firm and that all 
electricity use be offset by new renewable 
energy production.

Caroline Lauer, the county’s Sustain-
ability Program Manager, stresses the 
importance of this last requirement. If 
cryptocurrency miners purchased existing 
supplies of renewable energy, it could actu-
ally displace existing utility customers to 
dirtier sources. While most of the county’s 

electricity comes from hydropower, coal 
accounts for much of the remainder.

Missoula County’s 2016 Growth Policy 
plan includes an objective to “reduce the 
county’s contribution to climate change” 
(4.1) and lists policies that promote alterna-
tive energy development (4.1.3) and reduce 
energy use and waste generation as imple-
mentation actions (4.1.6). A day before it 
adopted the interim cryptocurrency mining 
regulations, the county further strengthened 
its policy rationale by adopting a joint com-
mitment with the City of Missoula to achieve 
100 percent clean electricity use by 2030. 

County officials extended the interim 
zoning for another year in 2020 before adopt-
ing the same regulations as a permanent 
zoning amendment in March 2021 (§1.04 

The former Bonner sawmill in Missoula County, Montana, was once 
home to the HyperBlock cryptocurrency mine.
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The heart of Northern Virginia’s Data Center Alley in Ashburn, Virginia.
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https://www.missoulacounty.us/home/showpublisheddocument/32891/636906626551870000
https://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/title_0760/chapter_0020/part_0020/section_0060/0760-0020-0020-0060.html
https://www.missoulacounty.us/home/showpublisheddocument/75210/637666330170030000
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& §5.05). According to Dixon, the Bonner 
mine ceased operations during the interim 
zoning period, but not because of the 
county’s zoning. It declared bankruptcy 
two days after the “Black Thursday” Bitcoin 
crash in March 2020, leaving the tribal-
owned independent power producer that 
provided its electricity with a $3.7 million 
unpaid bill (Rozen 2020).

CONCLUSIONS
The rapid rise in data center development 
has coincided with dramatic decreases in 
the costs of producing solar and wind power. 
This, in combination with a growing trend 
toward clean power commitments among 
technology companies, has blunted some of 

the climate impacts of an increased demand 
for data storage and processing.

The increased digitalization of life 
virtually guarantees that data centers will 
continue proliferating in strategic locations 
across the country (Gomez and DeAngelis 
2022). Soon, communities may start seeing a 
sharp increase in interest in very small edge 
data centers that could fit in underutilized 
commercial spaces or even be collocated 
with other telecommunications infrastruc-
ture, such as small cell facilities, in public 
rights-of-way (Sowry et al. 2018).

The future of cryptocurrency mining 
facilities is less certain. Bitcoin and other 
energy-intensive cryptocurrencies are fac-
ing social pressure to transition to more 

energy-efficient transaction verification 
methods, and several existing cryptocurren-
cies already use these methods. However, 
we are still at the very beginning of the cryp-
tocurrency story. While this form of currency 
currently exists primarily as a speculative 
investment vehicle, this could change rapidly 
if valuations stabilize and large numbers of 
goods and service providers accept crypto-
currencies for payment. 

Not every community will see the value 
in defining data centers or cryptocurrency 
mines as distinct uses in their zoning codes. 
Nevertheless, doing so can give local juris-
dictions a leg up when it comes to signaling 
preferences to developers and operators 
and minimizing or mitigating potential 
adverse impacts. 
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What Is Cold Storage & How Does Cold
Storage Work?
By Kriti Gupta

Cold storage is a facility that primarily stores food items that are short-lived and

highly likely to get spoilt under normal conditions. These may include fruits,

vegetables, fish, meat etc. These food items are stored under optimum

temperature(primarily low) and humid environment as required for individual items.

Almost all cold storage rooms are designed such that these properties are pre-

configured based on what is being stored. Some cold rooms are made such that

these properties are adjustable.

Construction and Working of a Cold Storage
Plant

Logistics Brew
By Stockarea

https://stockarea.io/blogs/author/kriti/
https://stockarea.io/blogs/
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A cold-storage facility works on a refrigeration system which helps maintain an

adequate temperature and environment as per the specifications of each item

being stored. These are the main components of a cold storage room:

Compressor – It is the main component that runs the cold room. It is the only

device that needs the energy to run. The compressor consumes almost all the

power in a cold room. It is used to raise the temperature and pressure of the

refrigerant vapour coming out of the Evaporator. As the pressure is increased,

the boiling point increases and the compressor can condense the

refrigerant(for example, ammonia) at the temperature of the condenser.

Condenser – It is required to remove the heat from the refrigerant and the

circulating water. It carries out phase change of the condenser from gas to

liquid at high temperature and pressure. The condenser acts as a heat sink,

and its heat exchange efficiency determines the efficiency of the cold storage

plant.

Receiver – The high-pressure liquid condensate is stored here. It is here that

the refrigerant comes after phase change from the condenser. After it has

reached the receiver component, the liquid refrigerant goes to the expansion

valve to decrease the temperature and pressure.

Expansion Valve – It reduces the temperature and pressure of the refrigerant

using a throttling device. The throttling process occurs through friction and

there is a change in the temperature and pressure of the refrigerant. Its

pressure changes from that in the Receiver to that in the Evaporator.

Evaporator – The cyclic process that decreases the temperature of the items

stored takes place here. It takes heat from the storage compartment or

atmosphere that is supposed to be cooled. This heat is then used to vaporize

the liquid refrigerant. This way, the food items are cooled and preserved.

Blowers – The cooled air is spread across the room through the convection

process, thus, achieving the desired temperature of the room.
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In short, the refrigerant’s boiling point is reduced by increasing its temperature and

pressure by the compressor. Heat is removed from the refrigerant as it is changed

from gaseous to the liquid state by the condenser. Now the refrigerant is transferred

to the reservoir for storage. Further, the refrigerant is moved to an expansion valve to

reduce the temperature and pressure in the liquid state. The last step takes place in

the Evaporator, where the heat from the surroundings is used to change the

refrigerant again to a gaseous state, thus causing the cooling effect. The blower

circulates this cool air.

Uses of Cold Storage
Cold storage is essentially meant for storing items that need specific low-

temperature surroundings. There is a misconception that cold rooms can store only

food items this way. However, cold rooms can store the following items:

1. Food Items – Several industries use cold storage services to preserve food

items. Restaurants, food outlets, supermarkets and grocery shops are a few of

these industries. These industries may require domestic fridges, entire cold

rooms or blast freezers based on the type of item being stored and the

customers’ needs. Blast freezers are needed to keep a large number of food

items for long periods.

2. Candles – In hot and humid climates, candles and similar items made of wax-

like substances must be stored in a cold space. Melting will ruin these items

https://stockarea.io/blogs/applications-of-cold-storage/
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and cause financial losses to the candle-making industries, raising the need

for cold storage facilities.

3. Films and Artwork – Film-makers can stop camera films from getting ruined

by storing them in cold temperatures. Not all but many people still use this

method when films need to be stored for longer periods. Old art pieces

especially need controlled temperature in their storage spaces as the paint

may start to peel off the canvas.

4. Plants – Cold temperatures keep plants healthy, primarily decorative plants.

Florists and ornamental flower companies especially need these facilities to

store flowers whose stems have been cut.

5. Cosmetics – Lipsticks, Mascaras, Nail paints etc., may get ruined in high

temperatures due to melting at higher temperatures. Thus, while storing

them for long durations, companies need to have optimum temperature in

the warehouse.

6. Pharmaceuticals – Pharmaceutical companies that deal with medicines use

cold storage warehouses very often to store syrups, injections, etc. and protect

them from denaturation. Cold temperature prevents them from getting

ruined by contamination.

7. Textiles – Textile companies that deal with organic cloth material such as fur,

skin or wool always need cold storage facilities in their warehouse. This is

because these materials can rot under high temperatures. It will make them

unfit for use. Dry cleaners also make use of cold storage facilities.

Types of Cold Storage Systems
1. Refrigerated containers – It is the primary and efficient type of cold storage

facility. They can be used for a small number of items that need optimum

temperature storage. Further, workers can easily move them from one place to

another.

2. Blast Freezers and Chillers – These meet large storage requirements that

need the items to be chilled when they reach the customer. High-end

restaurants and similar companies use these.

3. Cold rooms – These can be both refrigerants and blast freezers based on the

requirement, except that they are much larger and in the form of entire

rooms.

https://stockarea.io/blogs/6-major-types-of-cold-storage/
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4. Pharmaceutical grade cold storage warehouse – These are warehouses that

have the cold storage technologies inbuilt with them. Used in hospitals and

medical facilities, they are specially used to store blood, certain vaccines and

biopharmaceuticals.

5. Plant attached cold storage warehouse – When producers wish to keep the

cold rooms within their factories, such facilities are built. Conveyor belts are

used to send intermediary goods or finished products to cold storage. This

makes it an on-site service.

6. Dedicated custom cold storage warehouse facilities – It includes companies

that have specific cold storage needs and need customized cold rooms.

Instead of building entire cold rooms, they can get made one personally by

3PL logistic services or warehousing solution companies.

Benefits of Cold Storage Systems
1. Multiple variations

Most cold storage units have temperature-adjustable modes and are airtight

as well. This protects the material inside from extreme temperature changes

that may occur in the environment. Further, moisture content can also be

regulated using a dehumidifier to dry out the surroundings as required. A cold

storage unit can be converted to any of these from a cold room to a blast

freezer.

2. All specifications are customizable

Each cold room can be built of a particular dimension and feature

specification. Even the shape of a cold room can be customized. Based on

what is to be stored, the correct refrigeration system can be chosen. Many

times, a freezing temperature is not required for all goods. In such a case, a

cold room can keep your goods cold and dry. Mobile cold rooms are also

available now.

3. Acts as extra storage

Whenever space is not available for storing items in general, cold rooms

themselves can be used. They keep almost all food items safe, and their

temperature can be regulated along with the moisture. Items that especially

need to be kept away from moisture can be stored here when the monsoon

arrives. This way, whenever there are extra orders, the lack of space can be

compensated.

https://stockarea.io/blogs/advantages-of-cold-storage/
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4. It can be used for backup during a power outage

In case of power cuts, items stored in coolers and fridges can be moved to the

cold storage area. This will prevent those items from getting ruined. The cold

room will meet their optimum temperature requirement. The airtight nature

helps maintain the cool environment for a longer duration. This will help keep

the food items safely. Further, wire racks can be added, which will be kept

empty if such a situation arises.

5. Reduction in waste saves money

As cold rooms preserve food items for long durations, they help in reducing

wastage. This way, instead of unused goods being spoilt and thrown away,

they can be stored for more time. Many restaurants preserve food after

preparing it in frozen form; such a facility is provided through cold rooms.

These are used when there is a supply crunch. This benefit also helps save the

money that the company may have spent on buying extra items in place of

the spoilt ones.

Problems associated with Cold Storage
1. Negative impact on equipment and operator

Most cold rooms have adverse effects on the equipment placed inside. For

example, as soon as a product will be removed from the cold room for

palletization, it will gain moisture. This will spoil the product hence causing

wastage anyway. Further, the person operating the cold rooms is often

exposed to such artificial cold temperatures that harms their joints, bones, and

overall health. Also, battery operated parts within a cold storage unit have

extremely low power efficiency, reducing by almost 50% than at room

temperature. In order to deal with these issues, palletization can be done

within the cold room, and insulation kits can be provided to the workers of the

cold room. Seals should be placed on batteries that make them resistant to

extreme temperature changes.

2. Each good has different requirements

More than one product needs cold storage; however, each may not need the

same temperature for storage. Moisture requirements will also differ for each

kind of item. This creates an issue as a single temperature setting will be

beneficial for only a few things. For example, vegetables need to be stored at

13°C, meat at -2°C, dairy products at 1°C and ice creams at -23°C. Thus all items
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don’t need to be frozen. Further, even the transportation requirements from

the cold room may differ for each item. 3PL logistic services can be used to

store different types of goods as they have such facilities.

3. They may be energy inefficient

Many studies have proven that cold storage facilities are often energy

inefficient. This is caused even by the slightest error in insulation. Doors need

to be of high quality, or the entire cold room may become ineffective. This

means that there has to be minimal exposure to the outside environment.

Only if these requirements are met can the cold room work well. Thus, well-

built walls and doors preferably made of puff panels will help make the cold

room energy efficient.

Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)

Q: Can I use my forklift inside the containers?

Q. Can I store items after more processing occurs?

Q: How spacious are the containers?

Q. Are these rooms fireproof?








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GRID INTEGRATION TOOLKIT

Grid-Scale Battery Storage
Frequently Asked Questions

1.	 For information on battery chemistries and their relative advantages, see Akhil et al. (2013) and Kim et al. (2018).
2.	 For example, Lew et al. (2013) found that the United States portion of the Western Interconnection could achieve a 33% penetration of wind and solar without additional storage resources. 

Palchak et al. (2017) found that India could incorporate 160 GW of wind and solar (reaching an annual renewable penetration of 22% of system load) without additional storage resources.

What is grid-scale battery storage? 
Battery storage is a technology that enables power system operators and 
utilities to store energy for later use. A battery energy storage system 
(BESS) is an electrochemical device that charges (or collects energy) from 
the grid or a power plant and then discharges that energy at a later time 
to provide electricity or other grid services when needed. Several battery 
chemistries are available or under investigation for grid-scale applications, 
including lithium-ion, lead-acid, redox flow, and molten salt (including 
sodium-based chemistries).1  Battery chemistries differ in key technical 
characteristics (see What are key characteristics of battery storage 
systems?), and each battery has unique advantages and disadvantages. 
The current market for grid-scale battery storage in the United States and 
globally is dominated by lithium-ion chemistries (Figure 1). Due to tech-
nological innovations and improved manufacturing capacity, lithium-ion 
chemistries have experienced a steep price decline of over 70% from 
2010-2016, and prices are projected to decline further (Curry 2017).

Increasing needs for system flexibility, combined with rapid decreases 
in the costs of battery technology, have enabled BESS to play an 
increasing role in the power system in recent years. As prices for BESS 
continue to decline and the need for system flexibility increases with 
wind and solar deployment, more policymakers, regulators, and utili-
ties are seeking to develop policies to jump-start BESS deployment.

Is grid-scale battery storage needed for 
renewable energy integration? 
Battery storage is one of several technology options that can enhance 
power system flexibility and enable high levels of renewable energy 
integration. Studies and real-world experience have demonstrated that 
interconnected power systems can safely and reliably integrate high 
levels of renewable energy from variable renewable energy (VRE) 
sources without new energy storage resources.2 There is no rule-of-
thumb for how much battery storage is needed to integrate high levels 
of renewable energy. Instead, the appropriate amount of grid-scale 
battery storage depends on system-specific characteristics, including:

• The current and planned mix of generation technologies

• Flexibility in existing generation sources

• Interconnections with neighboring power systems

• The hourly, daily, and seasonal profile of electricity
demand, and

• The hourly, daily, and seasonal profile of current and
planned VRE.

In many systems, battery storage may not be the most economic 
resource to help integrate renewable energy, and other sources of 
system flexibility can be explored. Additional sources of system 
flexibility include, among others, building additional pumped-hydro 
storage or transmission, increasing conventional generation flexibility, 
and changing operating procedures (Cochran et al. 2014).Figure 1: U.S. utility-scale battery storage capacity by 

chemistry (2008-2017). Data source: U.S. Energy Information 
Administration, Form EIA-860, Annual Electric Generator Report
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2Grid-Scale Battery Storage: Frequently Asked Questions

What are the key characteristics of battery 
storage systems? 
•	 Rated power capacity is the total possible instantaneous discharge 

capability (in kilowatts [kW] or megawatts [MW]) of the BESS, or 
the maximum rate of discharge that the BESS can achieve, starting 
from a fully charged state.

•	 Energy capacity is the maximum amount of stored energy (in 
kilowatt-hours [kWh] or megawatt-hours [MWh])

•	 Storage duration is the amount of time storage can discharge at its 
power capacity before depleting its energy capacity. For example, a 
battery with 1 MW of power capacity and 4 MWh of usable energy 
capacity will have a storage duration of four hours.

•	 Cycle life/lifetime is the amount of time or cycles a battery storage 
system can provide regular charging and discharging before failure or 
significant degradation.

•	 Self-discharge occurs when the stored charge (or energy) of the 
battery is reduced through internal chemical reactions, or without 
being discharged to perform work for the grid or a customer. 
Self-discharge, expressed as a percentage of charge lost over a certain 
period, reduces the amount of energy available for discharge and is an 
important parameter to consider in batteries intended for longer-dura-
tion applications.

•	 State of charge, expressed as a percentage, represents the battery’s 
present level of charge and ranges from completely discharged to 
fully charged. The state of charge influences a battery’s ability to 
provide energy or ancillary services to the grid at any given time.

•	 Round-trip efficiency, measured as a percentage, is a ratio of the 
energy charged to the battery to the energy discharged from the 
battery. It can represent the total DC-DC or AC-AC efficiency of 
the battery system, including losses from self-discharge and other 
electrical losses. Although battery manufacturers often refer to the 
DC-DC efficiency, AC-AC efficiency is typically more important to 
utilities, as they only see the battery’s charging and discharging from 
the point of interconnection to the power system, which uses AC 
(Denholm 2019).

What services can batteries provide? 
Arbitrage: Arbitrage involves charging the battery when energy prices 
are low and discharging during more expensive peak hours. For the 
BESS operator, this practice can provide a source of income by taking 
advantage of electricity prices that may vary throughout the day. One 
extension of the energy arbitrage service is reducing renewable energy 
curtailment. System operators and project developers have an interest 
in using as much low-cost, emissions-free renewable energy generation 
as possible; however, in systems with a growing share of VRE, limited 
flexibility of conventional generators and temporal mismatches between 
renewable energy supply and electricity demand (e.g., excess wind 

3.	 See Mills and Wiser (2012) for a general treatment on the concept of capacity credit.

generation in the middle of the night) may require renewable generators 
to curtail their output. By charging the battery with low-cost energy 
during periods of excess renewable generation and discharging during 
periods of high demand, BESS can both reduce renewable energy 
curtailment and maximize the value of the energy developers can sell 
to the market. Another extension of arbitrage in power systems without 
electricity markets is load-leveling. With load-levelling, system opera-
tors charge batteries during periods of excess generation and discharge 
batteries during periods of excess demand to more efficiently coordinate 
the dispatch of generating resources.

Firm Capacity or Peaking Capacity: System operators must ensure 
they have an adequate supply of generation capacity to reliably meet 
demand during the highest-demand periods in a given year, or the peak 
demand. This peak demand is typically met with higher-cost generators, 
such as gas plants; however, depending on the shape of the load curve, 
BESS can also be used to ensure adequate peaking generation capacity. 
While VRE resources can also be used to meet this requirement, these 
resources do not typically fully count toward firm capacity, as their 
generation relies on the availability of fluctuating resources and may not 
always coincide with peak demand. But system operators can improve 
VRE’s ability to contribute to firm capacity requirements through pairing 
with BESS. Pairing VRE resources with BESS can enable these resources 
to shift their generation to be coincident with peak demand, improving 
their capacity value (see text box below) and system reliability.3

Operating Reserves and Ancillary Services: To maintain reliable 
power system operations, generation must exactly match electricity 
demand at all times. There are various categories of operating reserves 
and ancillary services that function on different timescales, from subsec-
onds to several hours, all of which are needed to ensure grid reliability. 
BESS can rapidly charge or discharge in a fraction of a second, faster 

Firm Capacity, Capacity Credit, and Capacity 
Value are important concepts for understanding 
the potential contribution of utility-scale energy 
storage for meeting peak demand. 

Firm Capacity (kW, MW): The amount of installed 
capacity that can be relied upon to meet demand 
during peak periods or other high-risk periods. The 
share of firm capacity to the total installed capacity of a 
generator is known as its capacity credit (%).3

Capacity Value ($): The monetary value of the 
contribution of a generator (conventional, renewable, 
or storage) to balancing supply and demand when 
generation is scarce.
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than conventional thermal plants, making them a suitable resource for 
short-term reliability services, such as Primary Frequency Response 
(PFR) and Regulation. Appropriately sized BESS can also provide 
longer-duration services, such as load-following and ramping services, 
to ensure supply meets demand.

Transmission and Distribution Upgrade Deferrals: The electricity 
grid’s transmission and distribution infrastructure must be sized to meet 
peak demand, which may only occur over a few hours of the year. When 
anticipated growth in peak electricity demand exceeds the existing 
grid’s capacity, costly investments are needed to upgrade equipment and 
develop new infrastructure. Deploying BESS can help defer or circum-
vent the need for new grid investments by meeting peak demand with 
energy stored from lower-demand periods, thereby reducing congestion 
and improving overall transmission and distribution asset utilization. 
Also, unlike traditional transmission or distribution investments, mobile 
BESS installations can be relocated to new areas when no longer needed 
in the original location, increasing their overall value to the grid.

Black Start: When starting up, large generators need an external source 
of electricity to perform key functions before they can begin generating 
electricity for the grid. During normal system conditions, this external 

electricity can be provided by the grid. After a system failure, however, 
the grid can no longer provide this power, and generators must be started 
through an on-site source of electricity, such as a diesel generator, a 
process known as black start. An on-site BESS can also provide this 
service, avoiding fuel costs and emissions from conventional black-start 
generators. As system-wide outages are rare, an on-site BESS can 
provide additional services when not performing black starts.

Table 1 below summarizes the potential applications for BESS in 
the electricity system, as well as whether the application is currently 
valued in U.S. electricity markets (Denholm 2018). Figure 2 shows the 
cumulative installed capacity (MW) for utility-scale storage systems in 
the United States in 2017 by the service the systems provide.

Where should batteries be located?
Utility-scale BESS can be deployed in several locations, including: 1) 
in the transmission network; 2) in the distribution network near load 
centers; or 3) co-located with VRE generators. The siting of the BESS 
has important implications for the services the system can best provide, 
and the most appropriate location for the BESS will depend on its 
intended-use case. 

In many cases, a BESS will be technically capable of providing a broad 
range of services in any of the locations described in the next section. 
Therefore, when siting storage, it is important to analyze the costs and 
benefits of multiple locations to determine the optimal siting to meet 
system needs. Considering all combinations of services the BESS can 
provide at each potential site will provide a better understanding of the 
expected revenue streams (see What is value-stacking?) and impact on 
the grid. 

In the Transmission Network 
BESS interconnected to the transmission system can provide a broad 
range of ancillary and transmission-related services. These systems can 
be deployed to replace or defer investments of peaking capacity, provide 
operating reserves to help respond to changes in generation and demand, 
or they can be used to defer transmission system upgrades in regions 
experiencing congestion from load or generation growth. Figure 3 below 
shows the configuration of a utility-scale storage system interconnected 
at the transmission substation level.

In the Distribution Network Near Load Centers  
Storage systems located in the distribution network can provide all of 
the services as transmission-sited storage, in addition to several services 
related to congestion and power quality issues. In many areas, it may be 
difficult to site a conventional generator near load in order to provide 
peaking capacity, due to concerns about emissions or land use. Due to 
their lack of local emissions and their scalable nature, BESS systems can 
be co-located near load with fewer siting challenges than conventional 
generation. Placing storage near load can reduce transmission and 
distribution losses and relieve congestion, helping defer transmission 
and distribution upgrades. Distribution-level BESS systems can also 
provide local power quality services and support improved resilience 
during extreme weather events.

Most storage systems in the United States provide 
operating reserves and ancillary services. Despite this 
current focus, the total U.S. market for these services is 
limited, and utility-scale storage may begin providing more 
firm and peak capacity in the near future.
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Co-Located with VRE Generators  
Renewable resources that are located far from load centers may require 
transmission investments to deliver power to where it is needed. Given 
the variable nature of VRE resources, the transmission capacity used to 
deliver the power may be underutilized for large portions of the year. 
A BESS can reduce the transmission capacity needed to integrate these 
resources and increase the utilization of the remaining capacity by using 
storage to charge excess generation during periods of high resource 
availability and discharge during periods of low resource availability. 
The same BESS can be used to reduce the curtailment of VRE gen-
eration, either due to transmission congestion or a lack of adequate 
demand, as well as provide a broad range of ancillary services.

What is value-stacking? What are some 
examples of value-stacking opportunities 
and challenges?
BESS can maximize their value to the grid and project developers by 
providing multiple system services. As some services are rarely called 
for (i.e., black start) or used infrequently in a given hour (i.e., spinning 
reserves), designing a BESS to provide multiple services enables a 
higher overall battery utilization. This multi-use approach to BESS 
is known as value-stacking. For example, a BESS project can help 
defer the need for new transmission by meeting a portion of the peak 
demand with stored energy during a select few hours in the year. When 
not meeting peak demand, the BESS can earn revenue by providing 
operating reserve services for the transmission system operator.

Table 1: Applications of Utility-Scale Energy Storage

Application Description Duration of Service 
Provision

Typically Valued in U.S. Electricity 
Markets?

Arbitrage Purchasing low-cost off-peak energy 
and selling it during periods of high 
prices.

Hours Yes

Firm Capacity Provide reliable capacity to meet peak 
system demand.

4+ hours Yes, via scarcity pricing and capacity 
markets, or through resource adequacy 
payments.

Operating Reserves

•	 Primary Frequency 
Response

Very fast response to unpredictable 
variations in demand and generation.

Seconds Yes, but only in a limited number of 
markets.

•	 Regulation Fast response to random, 
unpredictable variations in demand and 
generation.

15 minutes to 1 hour Yes

•	 Contingency 
Spinning

Fast response to a contingency such 
as a generator failure.

30 minutes to 2 
hours

Yes

•	 Replacement/ 
Supplemental

Units brought online to replace spinning 
units.

Hours Yes, but values are very low.

•	 Ramping/Load 
Following

Follow longer-term (hourly) changes in 
electricity demand.

30 minutes to hours Yes, but only in a limited number of 
markets.

Transmission 
and Distribution 
Replacement and 
Deferral

Reduce loading on T&D system during 
peak times.

Hours Only partially, via congestion prices.

Black-Start Units brought online to start system 
after a system-wide failure (blackout).

Hours No, typically compensated through 
cost-of-service mechanisms.
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Some system services may be mutually exclusive depending on the 
BESS design (e.g., a short duration storage device used to supply 
regulating reserves would have limited value for deferring transmission 
or distribution upgrades). Even if a BESS is technically capable of pro-
viding multiple services, the additional cycling of the battery (charging 
and discharging) may degrade the battery and shorten its lifetime 
and economic viability. Finally, a BESS can only provide a limited 
duration of any set of services before it runs out of charge, which means 
batteries must prioritize the services they provide.4

Regulators have a variety of options to enable BESS to maximize its 
economic potential through value-stacking. For example, the California 
Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) developed categories of services 
BESS can provide based on their importance for reliability and location 
on the grid, as well as 12 rules for utilities when procuring services 
from BESS (CPUC 2018). The CPUC rules:

•	 Dictate that BESS projects can only provide services at the voltage 
level to which they are interconnected or higher, but not lower5;

•	 Prioritize reliability services over non-reliability services and ensure 
storage cannot contract for additional services that would interfere 
with any obligation to provide reliability services;

•	 Require that a BESS project comply with all performance and avail-
ability requirements for services it provides and that noncompliance 
penalties be communicated in advance;

•	 Require that a BESS project inform the utility of any services it 
currently provides or intends to provide; and

•	 Take measures to prevent double compensation to BESS projects for 
services provided.

4.	 ANSI C84.1: Electric Power Systems and Equipment–Voltage Ratings (60 Hz) defines a low-voltage system as having a nominal voltage less than 1 kV and medium voltage as having a 
nominal voltage between 1 kV and 100 kV.

5.	 BESS interconnected at the distribution level can provide distribution or transmission level services, but BESS interconnected at the transmission level can only provide transmission-level 
services.

These CPUC rules are just one example of how regulators can help ensure 
BESS projects can select the most cost-effective combinations of services 
to provide without negatively impacting the reliability of the grid. 

How are BESS operators compensated? 
BESS operators can be compensated in several different ways, 
including in the wholesale energy market, through bilateral contracts, 
or directly by the utility through a cost-of-service mechanism. In 
a wholesale energy market, the BESS operator submits a bid for a 
specific service, such as operating reserves, to the market operator, who 
then arranges the valid bids in a least-cost fashion and selects as many 
bids as necessary to meet the system’s demands. If the BESS operator’s 
bid is selected and the BESS provides the service, the operator will 
receive compensation equal to the market price. This process ensures 
transparent prices and technology-agnostic consideration; however, 
many services are currently not available in the market, such as black 
start or transmission and distribution upgrade deferrals. Alternatively, 
BESS operators can enter into bilateral contracts for services directly 
with energy consumers, or entities which procure energy for end-con-
sumers. This process does not ensure transparency and contracts can 
differ widely in both prices and terms. Finally, some BESS are owned 
directly by the utilities to whom they provide services, such as upgrade 
deferrals. In these cost-of-service cases, the utility pays the BESS 
operator at the predetermined price and recovers the payments through 
retail electricity rates. In some jurisdictions, however, BESS may be 
prevented from extracting revenues through both wholesale markets 
and cost-of-service agreements (Bhatnagar et al. 2013).
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How does the value of batteries change with 
renewable energy deployment and increased 
VRE penetration? 

The amount of renewable energy on the grid can influence the value and 
types of the services provided by a BESS. Increased levels of renewable 
energy may increase the need for frequency control services to manage 
increased variability and uncertainty in the power system. Increased 
levels of VRE penetration can also change the shape of the net load, 
or the load minus the VRE generation, influencing BESS projects that 
provide load following, arbitrage, peaking capacity, or similar services. 

Models of the California system have shown a strong relationship 
between solar PV deployment and BESS’ ability to replace conventional 
peaking capacity, also known as the BESS capacity credit (Denholm 
and Margolis 2018).  As the shape of the load curve affects the ability of 
storage to provide peaking capacity, resources such as PV that cause load 
peaks to be shorter will enable shorter duration batteries, which are less 
expensive, to displace conventional peaking capacity. 

Initially, low levels of PV penetration may flatten the load curve, reducing 
BESS’ ability to cost-effectively offset the need for conventional peaking 
plants.6  At higher levels of solar PV penetration, however, the net load 
curve becomes peakier, increasing the ability and value of BESS to 
reduce peak demand. Figure 4 illustrates how increasing levels of PV 
generation change the shape of the net load, causing it to become peakier. 
The shaded areas above and under the net load curves indicate BESS 
charging and discharging, while the text boxes show the amount of net 
load peak reduction (MW) and the total amount of energy met by BESS 
during the net load peak (MWh). 

6.	 This is demonstrated by Denholm and Margolis (2018) for the California system.

What are the key barriers  
to BESS deployment?
Barriers to energy storage deployment can be broadly grouped into three 
different categories: regulatory barriers, market barriers, and data and 
analysis capabilities. 

1.	 Regulatory Barriers

•	 Lack of rules and regulations to clarify the role of BESS. 
Although storage may be technically able to provide essential 
grid services, if no regulations or guidelines explicitly state that 
storage can provide these services, utilities and market operators 
may be unwilling to procure services from BESS. Furthermore, 
without a guarantee that services provided by a BESS project will 
be compensated, storage developers and financing institutions may 
be unwilling to make the necessary capital investments. Federal 
Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) Order 841 addressed this 
issue in U.S. wholesale markets and directed market operators to 
develop rules governing storage’s participation in energy, capacity, 
and ancillary service markets. Among other requirements, the 
rules must ensure open and equal access to the market for storage 
systems, taking into consideration their unique operating and 
technical characteristics (FERC 2018).

•	 Restrictions or lack of clarity around if and how storage  
can be used across generation, transmission, and  
distribution roles. The variety of different services storage can 
provide often cuts across multiple markets and compensation 
sources. For instance, frequency regulation may be compensated 
in a wholesale market, but transmission or distribution investment 
deferrals may be compensated as a cost of service by the utility or 
system operator. In some jurisdictions, providing services across 
different compensation sources is restricted by regulation. Limiting 
the services batteries can provide based on where the service is 
provided or how it is compensated can influence how often they 
are utilized and whether they remain an economic investment 
(Bhatnagar 2013).

2.	 Market Barriers

•	 Lack of markets for system services. A lack of markets for 
services that batteries are uniquely suited to provide can make 
it difficult for developers to include them as potential sources 
of income when making a business case, deterring investment. 
For example, in most U.S. Independent System Operator (ISO) 
markets, generators are currently expected to provide inertial and 
governor response during frequency excursions without market 
compensation. Although BESS can provide the same services, 
currently there is no way for BESS to seek market compensation 
for doing so. Furthermore, the price formation for a service may 
have evolved for conventional generators, meaning the presence 
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of batteries in the market could distort prices, affecting storage 
systems and conventional generators alike (Bhatnagar 2013).

•	 Lack of discernment in quality and quantity of services 
procured. For some services, such as frequency regulation, the 
speed and accuracy of the response is correlated to its overall 
value to the system. Battery systems can provide certain services 
much faster and more accurately than conventional resources, 
which may not be reflected in compensation for the service. 
Markets can provide fair compensation to BESS by aligning 
compensation schemes with the quality of service provided, as is 
mandated by FERC Order 755, which requires compensation for 
frequency regulation that reflects “the inherently greater amount 
of frequency regulation service being provided by faster-ramping 
resources” (FERC 2011). Similarly, BESS can be uniquely suited 
to provide up- or down-regulation, given their larger operating 
range over which to provide regulating reserves (due to their 
lack of a minimum stable level and ability to provide up- and 
down-regulation in excess of their nameplate capacity, based 
on whether they are charging or discharging) (Denholm 2019). 
These unique features of BESS are not necessarily reflected in the 
procurement requirements and compensation of such services, 
diminishing BESS’ economic viability.

3.	 Data and Analysis Capabilities
Battery storage systems are an emerging technology that exhibit 
more risk for investors than conventional generator investments. 
These risks include the technical aspects of battery storage systems, 
which may be less understood by stakeholders and are changing 
faster than for other technologies, as well as potential policy 
changes that may impact incentives for battery deployment. 
Given the relatively recent and limited deployment of BESS, 
many stakeholders may also be unaware of the full capabilities 
of storage, including the ability of a BESS to provide multiple 
services at both the distribution and transmission level. At the 
same time, traditional analysis tools used by utilities may be 
inadequate to fully capture the value of BESS. For example, 
production cost models typically operate at an hourly resolution, 
which does not capture the value of BESS’ fast-ramping capa-
bilities. The gaps in data and analysis capabilities and lack of 
adequate tools can deter investments and prevent battery storage 
from being considered for services that can be provided by better 
understood conventional generators (Bhatnagar et al. 2013).

What are some real-world examples of 
batteries providing services and value-
stacking?
There are several deployments of BESS for large-scale grid applications. 
One example is the Hornsdale Power Reserve, a 100 MW/129 MWh 
lithium-ion battery installation, the largest lithium-ion BESS in the 
world, which has been in operation in South Australia since December 
2017. The Hornsdale Power Reserve provides two distinct services: 
1) energy arbitrage; and 2) contingency spinning reserve. The BESS 
can bid 30 MW and 119 MWh of its capacity directly into the market 

for energy arbitrage, while the rest is withheld for maintaining grid 
frequency during unexpected outages until other, slower generators 
can be brought online (AEMO 2018). In 2017, after a large coal plant 
tripped offline unexpectedly, the Hornsdale Power reserve was able to 
inject several megawatts of power into the grid within milliseconds, 
arresting the fall in grid frequency until a gas generator could respond. 
By arresting the fall in frequency, the BESS was able to prevent a likely 
cascading blackout.

Another example of value-stacking with grid-scale BESS is the Green 
Mountain Power project in Vermont. This 4 MW lithium-ion project 
began operation in September 2015 and is paired with a 2 MW solar 
installation. The installation provides two primary functions: 1) backup 
power and micro-grid capabilities; and 2) demand charge reductions. 
The solar-plus-storage system enables the utility to create a micro-grid, 
which provides power to a critical facility even when the rest of the 
grid is down. The utility operating the BESS also uses it to reduce two 
demand charges: an annual charge for the regional capacity market and 
a monthly charge for the use of transmission lines. Sandia National 
Laboratories estimated that reducing the annual demand charge for a 
single year saved the utility over $200,000 (Schoenung 2017).
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SUMMARY: 

Staff has reviewed a request from Kendall County Planning and Zoning Department along with the 
subsequent documents attached. This property is located within one and a half miles of the planning 
boundary for Yorkville, allowing the City the opportunity to review and provide comments to Kendall 
County. The petitioner, Jefferey D. Milroy on behalf of Milroy Farms, LLC, is requesting to renew its 
current special use permit, approved in 2014, for the operation of a compost facility on approximately 39.87 
acres in unincorporated Kendall County. The current special use authorization is set to expire in Kendall 
County on December 1, 2023. If approved, the new special use will expire on December 1, 2033. The 
petitioner is not seeking to continue the compost facility on the adjacent (east) approximately 18-acre parcel 
located within Yorkville’s corporate boundary, which was required to be decommissioned on or by March 
2, 2024, per a Settlement Agreement with the City. Additionally, the petitioner states the compost facility 
will not be run by the previous operator, Green Organics. The subject property is located at 1270 E. Beecher 
Road which is generally located on the east side of E. Beecher Road and approximately 0.5 miles south of 
Galena Road.  
 

 
 

DEVELOPMENT BACKGROUND: 

A compost facility has operated in this area on approximately 58 acres of adjacent parcels in 
Kendall County since 1993 and in the City of Yorkville since 1999. The portion of the parcel in Yorkville 
was subsequently entitled for residential land uses as part of the Westbury East Village Subdivision in 2004. 
Once the downtown in the economy happened in late 2009, no dwelling unit were ever built in the 
subdivision and the compost operator sought to reconfigure the layout of the facility to increase the amount 
of permitted food and landscape materials processed on the site. Therefore, in January 2014, the City 
approved an amendment to the Westbury East Village Annexation Agreement to allow the expanded 
operation for a period of five (5) years. The petitioner was also granted a special use permit, with conditions, 
by Kendall County to operate the compost facility on the subject property in March 2014. The approved 

Memorandum 
 

To:  Economic Development Committee   
From: Krysti J. Barksdale-Noble, Community Development Director  
CC: Bart Olson, City Administrator 
Date: August 1, 2023 
Subject: PZC 2023-11– Kendall County Petition 23-26  
 Milroy Farm – 1270 E. Beecher Road - 1.5 Mile Review (Special Use)  



layout for the compost facility on both Kendall County and City of Yorkville parcels are depicted as 
follows: 

 
Since that time, the property’s daily operations were conducted by a secondary organization, 

Midwest Materials, and several complaints related to odor from the site were received by the City. Upon 
the expiration of the five (5) year term for operating the compost facility in 2019, Green Organics 
challenged the date for decommissioning and the City entered into arbitration. A settlement agreement was 
reached in 2020 established a final termination date for the compost facility on the City’s side as March 2, 
2024. The city has been informed the decommissioning of the compost operation on the parcel within the 
City has begun.   
 
REQUEST SUMMARY: 

The petitioner is proposing to renew it recently expired special use with Kendall County for the 
continued operation of a compost facility on approximately 39.87 acres. The composting operation will 
consist of the processing of food scraps and landscape waste. The site plan provided illustrates several 25-
foot-wide windrows separated by 10-foot driving aisles. The site also has one (1) final cure storage area, 
one (1) grinding and blending concrete pad, and one (1) receiving pad. There will also be a 420 square foot 
trailer on site for office/employee use. The landscape waste will be received between the hours of 7:00 am 
and 4:00 pm, Monday through Fridays, and 7:00 am until 12:00 pm on Saturdays. The petitioner has 
indicated the composting facility will not be run by the former operator, Green Organics or Midwest 
Materials, but by the current owner Milroy Farms. 
 

As proposed, the renewed special use will be for a period of 10 years, until December 1, 2033, with 
the option to seek renewal by Kendall County prior to July 1, 2033. Upon termination of the special use, 
the compost facility will be decommissioned, and site converted back to farming within five (5) months, 
including the removal of materials, grading, seeding and the removal of all structures. Kendall County 
planning staff has proposed conditions for the special use permit related to noise, odor, water/soil sampling, 
truck weight, off-site debris and other operational recommendations listed in the attached memorandum 
from Matt Asselmeier, Senior Planner, for Kendall County.  



STAFF ANALYSIS: 

Due to the parcel’s proximity to Yorkville’s municipal boundary and its potential effect to adjacent 
Yorkville properties/development, staff spoke with the petitioner and Kendall County regarding the 
following special use recommendations: 
 

1. A thirty-foot (30’) wide buffer with a berm at least three feet (3’) in height and consisting of two 
(2) shade trees, five (5) evergreen trees, and three (3) ornamental trees per one hundred (100) linear 
feet of buffer; they favored a minimum fifteen (15’) foot wide buffer. 

2. Odor control regulations including using an ASTM certified portable olfactometer, notification by 
the County to the property owner/business operator within two (2) business days of findings, and a 
requirement that the property owner/business operator respond within five (5) business days of 
receiving the notice with corrective action steps. Yorkville’s performance standards related to odor 
were submitted to the County. 

3. A condition that the property owner/business operator submit a written response within seven (7) 
days of receiving a complaint for a non-odor violation outlining steps taken to correct the issue of 
the complaint. 

4. The submission of a detailed decommissioning plan. 

5. A requirement that notification of operation management changes and contact information be 
updated annually with the County. 

The petitioner was agreeable to certain landscaping requirements. This includes a 15-foot wide and 3-
foot-tall berm near the eastern property line, nearest to the Yorkville parcel, consisting of pines, fir and/or 
shade trees spaced no further than 40-feet apart. Additionally, the petitioner agreed to the submission of a 
decommissioning plan and the request regarding a change of management and updated contact information.  

However, Kendall County staff has concerns with the requested procedure for enforcement of odor 
control, as it currently contradicts the County’s voluntary compliance policy and the handling of their 
Zoning Ordinance violations. The County does not own an olfactometer and proposes to handle odor on 
the site by having the petitioner adhere to odor control strategies such as maintaining proper carbon-to-
nitrogen ratios, maintaining moisture levels, and sufficient turning of compost piles to enhance 
decomposition. 

At Kendall County’s ZPAC meeting held August 1, 2023, the recommendation was favorable with a 
requirement that the operator track wind conditions daily and add odor control amendment to 
mulch if they have to turn it on days when the wind blows in the direction of Yorkville. Additionally, 
the County’s Health Department was not supportive of the City’s requested olfactometer requirement.,  
 
YORKVILLE’S COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

Yorkville’s 2016 Comprehensive Plan designation for this property is Estate/Conservation 
Residential (ECR). This future land use is intended to provide flexibility for residential design in areas of 
Yorkville that can accommodate low-density detached single-family housing, but also include sensitive 
environmental and scenic features that should be retained and enhanced. This land use classification is 
characterized by conventional neighborhoods with detached housing on large lots and serves as a transition 
from suburban neighborhoods to agricultural zones. This designation is also used as a holding designation 
for areas without the needed infrastructure to support traditional development (e.g., public utilities and 
roadways). 
 

The current land use of an agricultural/compost facility is not consistent with Yorkville’s 
Comprehensive Plan land use designation for this property. However, if approved by Kendall County, the 
proposed special use does not require a change to the City’s Comprehensive Plan’s future land use 
designation as the proposed special use does have an expiration date of December 1, 2033. The trend in 



development in this area at time will dictate if the compost facility use would be appropriate, should the 
petitioner apply for renewal of the special use at that time. 
 
STAFF COMMENTS 

Staff has reviewed the request for special use renewal for the compost facility and still has some 
specific concerns related to the odor control regulations. Staff would recommend that in the event the City 
of Yorkville receives an odor complaint, the City can reach out directly to the property owner and Kendall 
County’s Solid Waste Coordinator and receive a response in writing as to how the odor will be/was 
mitigated within seven (7) business days. 
 
Staff is seeking input from the Planning and Zoning Commission as the one-and-a-half-mile review allows 
for the City to make comments and requests to the petitioner and County prior to their public meetings. 
This review will also be brought to the City Council at the August 22, 2023 meeting. This item was 
delivered to the City on July 19, 2023. 
 

PROPOSED MOTION 
In consideration of the proposed mile and half review of Kendall County Petition 23-26 for special use 
permit request for a compost facility at the property commonly known as 1270 E. Beecher Road, the 
Planning and Zoning Commission recommends the City Council to (object or not to object) to the 
request. 
 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Application with Attachments 
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DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING, BUILDING & ZONING 
111 West Fox Street • Room 203 

Yorkville, IL • 60560 
(630) 553-4141                  Fax (630) 553-4179 

 
Petition 23-26 

Jefferey D. Milroy on Behalf of Milroy Farms, LLC  
A-1 Special Use Permit for Composting of Landscape and Food 

Waste 
 

INTRODUCTION 
On March 19, 2014, through Ordinance 2014-04, the County Board granted a special use permit, with conditions 
for the operation of a composting facility at the subject property.  Ordinance 2014-04 required the property 
owner to submit a renewal prior to July 1, 2023, or the special use permit would expire on December 1, 2023.  
The property owner submitted the required renewal on June 30, 2023.   

The subject property has operated as a composting facility since 1993. 

The Petitioners are requesting the special use permit for the approximately thirty-nine point eight-seven (39.87) 
acres located in the unincorporated area.  They are not renewing the special use permit for operations inside 
the United City of Yorkville.  This reduces operates from approximately fifty-eight (58) acres. 

The Host Community Agreement also expires in 2023.  The Planning, Building and Zoning Committee met on 
July 10, 2023, to discuss renewing the agreement.  They requested additional information regarding the amount 
of and types of materials coming into and out of the property.    

Green Organics is no longer associated with the property.   

The application materials are included as Attachment 1.  Ordinance 2014-04 is included as Attachment 2.  The 
plat of survey is included as Attachment 3.  The business plan, including the site plan and landscaping plan, is 
included Attachment 4.  The decommissioning plan is included as Attachment 5.  

SITE INFORMATION 
PETITIONERS: 

 
Jefferey D. Milroy on Behalf of Milroy Farms, LLC  

ADDRESS: 
 

1270 E. Beecher Road, Bristol 

LOCATION: East Side of E. Beecher Road Approximately 0.5 Miles South of Galena Road on the 
East Side of the Road 
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Bristol: 
 

Approved Special Use in 2014 
 

 
Proposed Special Use Area 
 
Na-Au-Say 

PARCEL: 
 

02-08-100-006 
 

LOT SIZE: 
 

40 +/- Acres  

EXISTING LAND 
USE: 

 

Agricultural/Composting Facility 

ZONING: 
 

A-1 with a Special Use Permit 
 

LRMP: 
 

Future 
Land Use 

Suburban Residential (Max. 1.00 DU/Acre) and Mixed Use Business 
Along Beecher Road (County)  
Estate/Conservation Residential (Yorkville) 

Roads E. Beecher is a Local Road maintained by Bristol Township.   
Trails There is a proposed trail on E. Beecher Road. 
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Floodplain/ 
Wetlands 

There are no floodplains on the property.  There is a wetland on the 
extreme on the northwest corner of the property.   

  
 

REQUESTED 
ACTIONS: 

Special Use Permit for a Composting Facility    

 
 

APPLICABLE 
REGULATIONS: 

 
 
Section 7:01.D – A-1 Special Uses 
Section 13:08 – Special Use Procedures 

 
 

 

SURROUNDING LAND USE 
Location Adjacent Land Use Adjacent 

Zoning 
Land Resource 

Management Plan 
Zoning within ½ 

Mile 
North Agricultural A-1 

(County) 
Suburban Residential 

(County) 
Estate/Conservation 

Residential (Yorkville) 
 

A-1 (County) 
R-3 Planned Unit 

Development 
(Yorkville) 

South Agricultural A-1 SU and M-2 
(County) 

Suburban Residential 
and Mixed Use 

Business (County)  
Estate/Conservation 

Residential (Yorkville) 
 

A-1 SU and M-2 
(County) 

 

East Agricultural R-2 Planned 
Unit 

Development 
and  

R-2, R-4, B-3 
Planned Unit 
Development 

(Yorkville) 
 

Urban Area (County) 
Estate/Conservation 

Residential (Yorkville) 
 

Various Residential 
Planned Unit 

Developments 
(Yorkville)  

West Manufacturing M-2 and M-3 SU 
(County) 

Suburban Residential 
and Mixed Use 

Business (County) 
 

Estate/Conservation 
Residential 
(Yorkville) 

A-1, A-1 SU, M-1, 
M-2, and M-3 SU 

(County) 
 

 
The A-1 SU to the south was for gravel mining.  The M-3 SU to the west was for asphalt production.   
 
PHYSICAL DATA 

ENDANGERED SPECIES REPORT 
EcoCAT Report was submitted on June 22, 2023.  The Mottled Sculpin and Rusty Patch Bumble Bee 
were in the vicinity.  The Illinois Department of Natural Resources recommended that work that disturbs 
the ground or removes flowering plants be done between October 1st and April 1st.  If work occurred 
outside of the dates listed, a Rusty Patch Bumble Bee survey be conducted by a qualified biologist, 
with the results forward to the Illinois Department of Natural Resources.  The consultation also noted 
that coordination with the United States Fish and Wildlife Service may be necessary.  The consultation 
also contained suggestions for lighting.  The consultation was closed if the recommendations related 
to the Rusty Patch Bumble Bee were implemented, see Attachment 1, Pages 19-25. 
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As of the date of this memo, the Petitioner was not agreeable to either recommendation related to the 
Rusty Patch Bumble Bee.   
 
NATURAL RESOURCES INVENTORY 

 The NRI Application was submitted on June 20, 2023.  The LESA score was 175, indicating a low 
level of protection, see Attachment 1, Pages 12-18.      

 
ACTION SUMMARY 

BRISTOL TOWNSHIP     
Petition information was sent to Bristol Township on July 19, 2023.    
 
UNITED CITY OF YORKVILLE 
Prior to formal application submittal, Staff contacted Yorkville regarding potential comments on the 
application. Yorkville requested the following items: 
 
1. A thirty foot (30’) wide buffer with a berm at least three feet (3’) in height and consisting of two (2) 

shade trees, five (5) evergreen trees, and three (3) ornamental trees per one hundred (100) linear 
feet of buffer; they favored a minimum fifteen (15’) foot wide buffer. 
 

2. Odor control regulations including using an ASTM certified portable olfactometer, notification by 
the County to the property owner/business operator within two (2) business days of findings, and a 
requirement that the property owner/business operator respond within five (5) business days of 
receiving the notice with corrective action steps.  Yorkville’s performance standards related to odor 
were submitted to the County.   

 
3. A condition that the property owner/business operator submit a written response within seven (7) 

days of receiving a complaint for a non-odor violation outlining steps taken to correct the issue of 
the complaint. 

 
4. The submission of a detailed decommissioning plan. 
 
5. A requirement that notification of operation management changes and contact information be 

updated annually with the County. 
 
Staff has concerns regarding the requested procedure of enforcement because the requested method 
presently contradicts the County’s current voluntary compliance policy and the regular procedures for 
handling alleged violations in the Zoning Ordinance.  Also, the County does not presently own an 
olfactometer.  Lastly, Illinois Environmental Protection Agency regarding complaints.   
 
Yorkville’s email and Staff’s response were included as Attachment 6.   
 
The Petitioner was agreeable to certain landscaping, the submission of a decommissioning plan, the 
request regarding change of management and updated contact information.   

 
Petition information was sent to the United City of Yorkville on July 19, 2023.   

 
BRISTOL-KENDALL FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 
Petition information was sent to the Bristol Kendall Fire Protection District on July 19, 2023.   

       
GENERAL INFORMATION 
Per Section 7:01.D.20 of the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance, composting businesses can be special uses 
on A-1 zoned property subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. The facility shall meet all Illinois Environmental Protection Agency requirements as identified in Title 
35, Subtitle G, Chapter 1, Subchapter 1, Part 830, Standards for compost facilities.  
 

2. Operational personnel shall be present on site during all hours which the facility is open for the receipt 
of landscape waste. 
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3. The hours during which landscape waste may be received shall be 7:00am to 4:00pm Monday through 

Friday and 7:00am to 12:00 noon Saturday.  Processing operations shall cease after each day’s 
receipts have been processed and placed in windrows, not to exceed three (3) additional hours.  

 
4. The decibel levels at the property line shall not exceed Illinois Pollution Control Board standards.  

 
5. A locked gate shall restrict vehicle access during closed hours except that a “lock-box” shall allow 

access to emergency vehicles.  
 

6. Water samples shall be taken by an independent testing service and analyzed by an independent 
laboratory.  The locations, methods and frequency of sampling and testing shall be approved by the 
Kendall County Environmental Health Department Director.  The test results shall be sent to the 
Environmental Health Department within forty-five (45) days of sampling.   
 

7. Soil samples shall be taken by an independent testing service and analyzed by an independent 
laboratory.  The locations, methods and frequency of sampling and testing shall be approved by the 
Kendall County Environmental Health Department Director.  The test results shall be sent to the 
Environmental Health Department within forty-five (45) days of sampling.   
 

8. Authorized Kendall County personnel shall be allowed on site during business hours for inspection and 
testing.  
 

9. The facility operator shall send up-to-date copies of the State permit and related documents including 
Operational Plan, Surface water management Plan, Pest Control Plan, Site Drawing, and an Annual 
Report to the County Solid Waste Coordinator.  
 

10. Truck weights shall be limited to seventy-three thousand, two hundred eighty (73,280) pounds.  
 

11. The operator shall provide weight receipts to Kendall County.  
 

12. Off-site debris and trash generated by the site must be cleaned-up daily on surrounding properties with 
the owner’s permission.   
 

13. Other conditions as appropriate for the particular facility. 
 
The Petitioner is agreeable to conditions 1-12.   
 
BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
When the special use permit was originally granted in the 1990s, they were originally allowed to process one 
hundred fifty thousand (150,000) cubic yards of source separated landscape materials.  This number was 
increased to one hundred seventy-five thousand (175,000) cubic yards in 2014.   
 
Starting in 2010, the facility was allowed to accept food scraps. 
 
The site plan (Attachment 4, Page 3) shows several twenty-five foot (25’) wide windrows.  These windrows are 
separated by ten foot (10’) foot driving aisles.  No information was provided regarding the height of the 
windrows. 
 
Bulk agent storage areas separate the east and west windrow areas.   
 
The site plan shows one (1) final cure storage area, one (1) grinding and blending concrete pad, and one (1) 
receiving pad. No information was provided regarding the dimensions of these areas. 
 
As noted previously, the hours when landscape waste can be received are between 7:00 a.m. and 4:00 p.m. 
on Mondays through Fridays and 7:00 a.m. until Noon on Saturdays.  Processing operations may continue for 
a maximum three (3) additional hours.   
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As noted in the Decommissioning Plan (Attachment 5), the site will be converted back to farming within five (5) 
months, this includes the removal materials, grading, seeding, and removal of all structures. 
 
No information was provided regarding the number of employees at the property.   
 
The use has been at the property since 1993. 
 
There have not been any founded complaints against the property in recent years.   
 
BUILDINGS AND BUILDING CODES 
One (1) approximately four hundred twenty (420) square foot office trailer is shown on the plan near the 
southeast corner of the site. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 
The property is served by a well and septic.  The well is located at the southeast corner of the property.   
 
The Petitioner is agreeable to the requirements related to water samples and soil samples, inspection and 
testing, and submitting copies of the State permit, operational plan, surface water management plan, pest 
control plan, site drawings, annual report, and decommissioning plan.  The Petitioner is also agreeable to 
providing weight receipts to Kendall County.  
 
The Solid Waste Coordinator shall maintain a log of complaints received on the facility. 
 
Sampling schedules are noted on in the Business Plan (Attachment 4, Page 6).   
 
Though not shown on the site plan, a dumpster is located on the property.  The business plan (Attachment 4, 
Page 2) notes a requirement to clean-up offsite debris and trash daily on surrounding properties.      
 
NICOR possesses an easement north of the existing driveway. 
 
Overhead utilities run from E. Beecher Road to the office trailer. 
 
STORMWATER 
The property drains to the south and west. 
 
One (1) existing detention basin is shown on the site plan north of parking area.  The site plan also shows one 
(1) proposed detention basin southwest of the western windrows.  One twenty-five foot (25’) wide drainage 
swale is shown west of the western windrows.  No information was provided regarding the dimensions of the 
detention basins or the depth of the drainage swale.   
 
The Petitioners submitted an application for a stormwater management permit.  WBK submitted comments in 
a letter dated July 15, 2023, included as Attachment 7.  To date, Staff is waiting for comments from the Petitioner 
regarding WBK’s comments.     
 
ACCESS 
Per the site plan (Attachment 4, Page 3), the subject property has an asphalt drive to E. Beecher Road.   
 
The Petitioner is agreeable to the truck weight restriction contained in the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance.   
 
PARKING AND INTERNAL TRAFFIC CIRCULATION 
According to the site plan (Attachment 4, Page 3), one (1) parking area was shown north of the office trailer 
and one (1) handicapped accessible parking space was shown east of the office trailer.  No information was 
provided regarding the total number of parking stalls.   
 
The site plan shows one (1) truck turn around area.    
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LIGHTING 
No information was provided regarding lighting.  Because of the small number of parking spaces, a photometric 
plan was not required.   
 
SIGNAGE 
According to the business plan (Attachment 4, Page 4), one (1) existing sign is located on the property.  The 
sign is not illuminated.  The information on the sign is required per Illinois Environmental Protection Agency 
rules.   
 
One (1) additional no trespassing sign is located on the interior gate. 
.      
SECURITY 
According to the site plan (Attachment 4, Page 3), there is a fence along the western and northern sides of the 
property.  There is also a fifteen foot (15’) wide buffer between the eastern property line and the berm.  The 
business plan (Attachment 4, Pages 1 and 5) references a locked gate.  The gate is locked during closed hours, 
but a lock box is available for emergency response vehicles.    
 
LANDSCAPING 
Per the site plan (Attachment 4, Page 3), one (1) fifteen foot (15’) wide berm is shown near the eastern property 
line.  A twenty-five foot (25’) wide berm is shown near the western and northern property lines.  Per the business 
plan (Attachment 4, Page 2), the eastern berm will be three feet (3’) in height.  Landscaping consisting of pines, 
fir, and/or shade trees will be planted at spacing not to exceed forty feet (40’) apart.  Seedling will be a minimum 
of six inches (6”) in height and will be planted within one (1) year of the issuance of the special use permit.  The 
business plan also references maintaining the existing plantings on the berm and ditch and existing 
landscaping.  No information was provided regarding plantings on the western or northern berms or the 
composition of the existing landscaping and plantings on the property.     
 
NOISE CONTROL 
Per the business plan (Attachment 4, Page 1), noise levels cannot exceed Illinois Pollution Control Board 
standards.  
 
ODORS 
The business plan (Attachment 4, Page 2) references odor control strategies generally.  Illinois Environmental 
Protection Agency rules requires operators of composting facilities to prepare an odor minimization plan.  Staff 
has requested a copy of this plan.   
 
RELATION TO OTHER SPECIAL USES 
This is the only property to have a special use permit for a composting facility in unincorporated Kendall County.  
 
FINDINGS OF FACT 
Before preparing a Findings of Fact, Staff would like to review the stormwater information, pest control plan, 
and odor control plan and obtain comments from ZPAC members.   
 
§ 13:08.J of the Zoning Ordinance outlines findings that the Zoning Board of Appeals must make in order to 
recommend in favor of the applicant on special use permit applications.  They are listed below in italics.  Staff 
has provided findings in bold below based on the recommendation:  
 
The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to or endanger the 
public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare.  

 
The special use will not be substantially injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 
vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within the 
neighborhood. The Zoning classification of property within the general area of the property in question shall be 
considered in determining consistency with this standard. The proposed use makes adequate provisions for 
appropriate buffers, landscaping, fencing, lighting, building materials, open space and other improvements 
necessary to insure that the proposed use does not adversely impact adjacent uses and is compatible with the 
surrounding area and/or the County as a whole.  
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Adequate utilities, access roads and points of ingress and egress, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities 
have been or are being provided.  

 
The special use shall in all other respects conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which it is 
located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the County Board pursuant to the 
recommendation of the Zoning Board of Appeals.  
 
The special use is consistent with the purpose and objectives of the Land Resource Management Plan and 
other adopted County or municipal plans and policies.  
 
RECOMMENDATION  
Staff would like additional information before issuing a recommendation.  The general conditions and 
restrictions would be as follows: 
 

1. The facility shall comply with the conditions as they are listed in the applicable sections of the Kendall 
County Zoning Ordinance related to the composting of landscape waste and food waste, subject to the 
following: 

a.  The facility shall meet all Illinois Environmental Protection Agency requirements as identified in the 
applicable sections of the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance. 

b.  Operational personnel shall be present on site during all hours which the facility is open for the 
receipt of landscape waste. 

 
c.  The hours during which landscape waste may be received shall be 7:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. on 

Monday through Fridays and 7:00 a.m. to Noon on Saturdays. Processing operations shall cease 
after each day's receipts have been processed and placed in windrows, not to exceed three (3) 
additional hours. 

 
d.  The decibel levels at the property line shall not exceed Illinois Pollution Control Board standards. 
 
e. Water samples shall be taken by an independent testing service and analyzed by an independent 

laboratory.  The locations, methods and frequency of sampling and testing shall be approved by 
the Kendall County Environmental Health Department Director.  The test results shall be sent to 
the Environmental Health Department within forty-five (45) days of sampling. 

 
f.  Soil samples shall be taken by an independent testing service and analyzed by an independent 

laboratory. The locations, methods and frequency of sampling and testing shall be approved by the 
Kendall County Environmental Health Department Director.  The test results shall be sent to the 
Environmental Health Department within forty-five (45) days of sampling. 

 
g.  Authorized Kendall County personnel shall be allowed on site during business hours for inspection 

and testing. 
 
h.  The facility operator shall send up-to-date copies of the State permit and related documents 

including Operational Plan, Surface Water Management Plan, Pest Control Plan, Site Drawing, and 
an Annual Report to the County Solid Waste Coordinator. 

 
i.  Truck weights shall be limited to seventy-three thousand, two hundred eighty (73,280) pounds. 
 
j.  The operator shall provide weight receipts to Kendall County. 
 
k.  Off-site debris and trash generated by the site must be cleaned-up on a daily basis on surrounding 

properties with the owner's permission. 
 
l.  Implement strategies to manage potential odor issues such as maintaining proper carbon to-

nitrogen ratios, maintaining moisture levels, and sufficient turning of compost piles to enhance 
decomposition. 
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m.  Install water spraying systems or dust suppression equipment at critical points of dust generation. 
Regularly monitor moisture content and use sprinkler systems or misters to dampen the compost 
as needed. 

 
2. The facility will be permitted to take in one hundred seventy-five thousand (175,000) cubic yards of 

source-separated landscape materials (i.e. brush, leaves, tree trimmings and grass). 
 

3. The site shall be developed substantially in accordance with the site plan (Attachment 4, Page 3) and 
the site plan shall be kept on file as "Exhibit A" attached hereto. 
 

4. As noted on the site plan, a fifteen foot (15’) buffer and a berm will be provided between the composting 
area and the United City of Yorkville’s boundary.  The berm will be at least fifteen feet (15’) wide and 
three feet (3’) high.  The buffer landscaping will be composed primarily of pine, fir, and/or shade trees 
planted at spacing not to exceed forty feet (40’) apart.  Seedlings will be a minimum of six inches (6”) 
in height. Specimen seedlings will be planted and the berm will be constructed within one (1) year of 
issuance of the special use permit ordinance.  The Kendall County Planning, Building and Zoning 
Committee may grant an extension to the deadline to install the berms and landscaping.   

 
5. The facility operator shall maintain existing plantings on the berm and ditch. 

 
6. The facility operator shall maintain the security gate, signage, and landscaping as indicated on "Exhibit 

B" (Attachment 4, Pages 4 and 5) attached hereto.  The locked gate shall restrict vehicle access during 
closed hours except that a "lock-box" shall allow access to emergency vehicles. 
 

7. The facility operator shall maintain a sampling schedule as shown on "Exhibit C" (Attachment 4, Page 
6) attached hereto dated March 11, 2008.   
 

8. The County Solid Waste Coordinator shall maintain a log of complaints received on the facility. 
 

9. This special use Ordinance shall expire on December 1, 2033, and the petition for renewal shall be 
made prior to July 1, 2033. 

 
10. If any Illinois Environmental Protection Agency (IEPA) violations or citations are received by the site 

operator/manager and/or parcel owner/manager they need to be submitted to the County Solid Waste 
Coordinator within thirty (30) days. 

 
11. The operator of the business allowed by the special use permit shall follow the Decommissioning Plan 

(Attachment 5) as described in Exhibit D.  The operator shall assume all of the responsibilities assigned 
to Green Organics in the plan.  The Decommissioning Plan shall be kept on file in the site trailer office 
per EPA requirements and will be accessible to the Kendall County Health Inspector.  The operator of 
the business allowed by the special use permit shall update the Kendall County Health Department 
within thirty (30) days of changes to the Decommissioning Plan. 
 

12. The operator of the business allowed by the special use permit shall notify the Kendall County Planning, 
Building and Zoning Department within thirty (30) days of changes in operation manager.  In addition, 
the operator of the business allowed by this special use permit shall provide contact information of the 
management operator annually by July 1st.    
 

13. The operator of the business allowed by the special use permit shall ensure a host community 
agreement is in existence with the County prior to operations.   
 

14. Ordinance 2014-04 and all previous special use permits and amendments to special use permits related 
to the operation of composting facility on the subject property are hereby repealed in their entireties. 

15. None of the vehicles or equipment parked or stored on the subject property related to the business 
allowed by the special use permit shall be considered agricultural vehicles or agricultural equipment. 

16. All of the vehicles and equipment stored on the subject property related to the business allowed by the 
special use permit shall be maintained in good condition with no deflated tires and shall be licensed if 
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required by law.   

17. Any structures constructed, installed, or used related to the business allowed by this special use permit 
on the property shall not be considered for agricultural purposes and must secure applicable building 
permits.   

 
18. The owners and operators of the business allowed by this special use permit acknowledge and agree 

to follow Kendall County’s Right to Farm Clause. 
 

19. The property owner and operator of the business allowed by this special use permit shall follow all 
applicable Federal, State, and Local laws related to the operation of this type of business. 
 

20. Failure to comply with one or more of the above conditions or restrictions could result in the amendment 
or revocation of the special use permit.   
 

21. If one or more of the above conditions is declared invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the 
remaining conditions shall remain valid.  

 
22. This special use permit shall be treated as a covenant running with the land and are binding on the 

successors, heirs, and assigns as to the same special use conducted on the property. 
 
ATTACHMENTS  
1. Application Materials (Including Petitioner’s Findings of Fact, NRI Application, and EcoCat) 
2. Ordinance 2014-04 
3. Plat of Survey 
4. Business Plan (Including Site Plan) 
5. Decommission Plan 
6. Pre-Application Emails with United City of Yorkville 
7. July 15, 2023, WBK Comment Letter 
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Detailed Description Of Proposed Use Business Plan
1. The facility shall comply with the conditions as they are listed in the applicable sections

of the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance: Composting of landscape waste and food

waste, subject to the following:

a. The facility shall meet all Illinois Environmental Protection Agency requirements as

identified in the applicable sections of the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance.

b. Operational personnel shall be present on site during all hours which the facility is open

for the receipt of landscape waste.

c. The hours during which landscape waste may be received shall be 7:00am to 4:00pm

Monday through Friday and 7:00am to 12:00 noon Saturday. Processing operations shall

cease after each day's receipts have been processed and placed in windrows, not to

exceed three (3) additional hours.

d. The decibel levels at the property line shall not exceed Illinois Pollution Control Board

standards.

e. A locked gate shall restrict vehicle access during closed hours except that a "lock-box"

shall allow access to emergency vehicles.

f. Water samples shall be taken by an independent testing service and analyzed by an

independent laboratory. The locations, methods and frequency of sampling and testing

shall be approved by the Kendall County Environmental Health Department Director. The

test results shall be sent to the Environmental Health Department within forty-five (45)

days of sampling.

g. Soil samples shall be taken by an independent testing service and analyzed by an

independent laboratory. The locations, methods and frequency of sampling and testing

shall be approved by the Kendall County Environmental Health Department Director. The

test results shall be sent to the Environmental Health Department within forty-five (45)

days of sampling.

h. Authorized Kendall County personnel shall be allowed on site during business hours for

inspection and testing.

i. The facility operator shall send up-to-date copies of the State permit and related

documents including Operational Plan, Surface water management Plan, Pest Control

Plan, Site Drawing, and an Annual Report to the County Solid Waste Coordinator.

j. Truck weights shall be limited to 73,280 pounds.

k. The operator shall provide weight receipts to Kendall County.

1
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l. Off-site debris and trash generated by the site must be cleaned-up on a daily basis on

surrounding properties with the owner's permission.

m. Other conditions as appropriate for the particular facility. (Amended 6/26/2023)

n. Decommissioning plan shall be kept on file in the site trailer office per EPA requirements

and will be accessible to the Kendall County Health Inspector.

o. Implement strategies to manage potential odor issues such as maintaining proper

carbon-to-nitrogen ratios, maintaining moisture levels, and sufficient turning of compost

piles to enhance decomposition.

p. Install water spraying systems or dust suppression equipment at critical points of dust

generation. Regularly monitor moisture content and use sprinkler systems or misters to

dampen the compost as needed.

q. A 15’ buffer and a berm will be provided between the composting area and the Village of

Yorkville. This berm will be at least 15’ wide by 3’ high. The buffer landscaping will be

composed primarily of pine, fir, and/or shade trees planted at spacing not to exceed 40’

apart. Seedlings will have a minimum of 6” in height. Specimen seedlings will be planted

and the berm will be constructed within one year of issuance of the Composting

Ordinance.

2. The facility will be permitted to take in 175,000 cubic yards of source-separated

landscape materials (i.e. brush, leaves, tree trimmings and grass).

3. The site plan shall be kept on file as "Exhibit A" attached hereto.

4. The facility operator shall maintain existing plantings on the berm and ditch.

5. The facility operator shall maintain the security gate and landscaping as indicated on

"Exhibit B" attached hereto.

6. The facility operator shall maintain a sampling schedule as shown on "Exhibit C"

attached hereto dated March 11, 2008.

7. The County Solid Waste Coordinator shall maintain a log of complaints received on the

facility.

8. This special use Ordinance shall expire on December 1, 2033 and the petition for renewal

shall be made prior to July 1, 2033.

9. If any Illinois Environmental Protection Agency (IEPA) violations or citations are received by

the site operator/manager and/or parcel owner/manager they need to be submitted to the

County Solid Waste Coordinator within 30 days.

2
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Legal Description of Milroy Farms LLC Parcel
Parcel 02-08-100-006

That part of the Northwest Quarter of Section 8, Township 37 North, Range 7 East of the Third
Principal Meridian, being described as follows: Commencing at the Northwest Corner of said
Quarter Section; thence north 88° 29 '44" East along the North Line of said Northwest Quarter,
953.68 feet to a point in the center line of a branch of Rob Roy Creek for the point of beginning;
thence continuing North 88° 29 '44" East along said North Line, 1699.50 feet to the Northeast
Corner of said Northwest Quarter; thence South 00° 06’ 57’’ East along the East Line of said
Northwest Quarter, 1124.58 feet; thence South 88° 27’ 18” West, 2655.95 feet to a point on the
West line of said Northwest Quarter; that is 1126.52 feet Southerly of the Northwest Corner of
said Northwest Quarter; thence North 00° 01’ 23” East along said West line, 100.0 feet; thence
North 87° 51’ 12” East, 1498.53 feet to a point in the center line of a branch of Rob Roy Creek;
thence North 28° 38’ 38” West along said center line, 1134.24 feet to the point of beginning in
Bristol Township, Kendall County, Illinois.

1
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• The 2008 Soil Survey for Kendall County as maintained by the United States Department of Agriculture – Natural 
Resource Conservation Service (USDA-NRCS) contains soil maps and descriptions for soil types throughout the 
county. The exhibit above shows the soil map, and the table below shows the soil map units that are present 
within the project site. Please note this information does not replace the need for site specific soil testing. 

 
Soil Map Unit Acreage Percent of Parcel 
60C2 La Rose silt loam, 5-10% slopes, eroded 5.1 12.9% 
60C3 La Rose clay loam, 5-10% slopes, severely eroded 4.7 11.8% 
67A Harpster silty clay loam, 0-2% slopes 18.5 46.4% 
152A Drummer silty clay loam, 0-2% slopes 2.3 5.7% 
512B Danabrook silt loam, 2-5% slopes 7.8 19.5% 
865 Pits, gravel 1.5 3.8% 

 
• Soil survey interpretations are predictions of soil behavior for specified land uses and specified management 

practices. These interpretative ratings help engineers, planners, and others to understand how soil 
properties influence behavior when used for nonagricultural uses. They are based on the soil properties that 
directly influence the specified use of the soil. Each soil map unit has limitations for a variety of land uses. 
The table below shows the soil limitations for uses including food-processing waste, farm and garden 
composting, and shallow excavations. It is important to remember that soils do not function independently 
of each other. The behavior of a soil depends upon the physical properties of adjacent soil types, the 
presence of artificial drainage, soil compaction, and its position in the local landscape. 
 

Soil Type Food-Processing Waste Farm & Garden 
Composting Facility Shallow Excavations 

60C2 & 
60C3 

Very Limited: 
Dense layer; Slow water 
movement; Depth to 
saturated zone 

Somewhat Limited: 
Slope; Low strength; 
Wetness; Low precipitation; 
Extreme soil temperatures 

Very Limited: 
Depth to saturated zone; 
Dusty; Unstable 
excavation walls 

67A Very Limited: 
Ponding; Depth to 
saturated zone; Leaching 

Very Limited: 
Low strength; Wetness; 
Ponding; Low precipitation; 
Seepage 

Very Limited: 
Ponding; Depth to 
saturated zone; Dusty; 
Unstable excavation walls 

152A Very Limited: 
Ponding; Depth to 
saturated zone; Leaching; 
Slow water movement 

Very Limited: 
Low strength; Wetness; 
Ponding; Low precipitation 

Very Limited: 
Ponding; Depth to 
saturated zone; Dusty; 
Unstable excavation 
walls; Too clayey 

512B Somewhat Limited: 
Depth to saturated zone; 
Slow water movement 

Somewhat Limited: 
Low strength; Wetness; 
Slope; Extreme soil 
temperatures; Low 
precipitation 

Somewhat Limited: 
Depth to saturated zone; 
Dusty; Unstable 
excavation walls 

865 N/A N/A N/A 
 

• The information provided in the table below provides further detail regarding the following: 
o Drainage Class: Refers to the frequency and duration of wet periods under similar conditions to those 

under which the soil formed.  
o Hydrologic Soil Groups: Soils have been classified into four (A, B, C, D) hydrologic groups based on 

runoff characteristics due to rainfall. If a soil is assigned to a dual hydrologic group (A/D, B/D or C/D), 
the first letter is for drained areas and the second letter is for undrained areas. Group A soils have a 
high infiltration rate, low runoff potential and high rate of water transmission. Group B soils have a 
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moderate infiltration rate and rate of water transmission. Group C soils have a slow infiltration rate 
and rate of water transmission. Group D soils have a very slow infiltration rate, high runoff potential 
and a very slow rate of water transmission.  

o Hydric Soils: A hydric soil is one that formed under conditions of saturation, flooding, or ponding long 
enough during the growing season to develop anaerobic conditions in the upper part of the soil profile 
that supports the growth or regeneration of hydrophytic vegetation.  Soils with hydric inclusions have 
map units dominantly made up of non-hydric soils that may have inclusions of hydric soils in the lower 
positions on the landscape. Of the soils found onsite, two are hydric (67A Harpster silty clay loam and 
152A Drummer silty clay loam) and three are non-hydric (60C2 La Rose silt loam, 60C3 La Rose clay 
loam, and 512B Danabrook silt loam).  

o Prime Farmland: Prime farmland is land that has the best combination of physical and chemical 
characteristics for agricultural production. Prime farmland soils are an important resource to Kendall 
County and some of the most productive soils in the United States occur locally. Of the soils found 
onsite, three are designated as prime farmland (67A Harpster silty clay loam, 152A Drummer silty clay 
loam, and 512B Danabrook silt loam). Two of the soils are designated as farmland of statewide 
importance (60C2 La Rose silt loam and 60C3 La Rose clay loam), and one is designated as non-prime 
farmland (865 Pits, gravel).  
 

Map Unit Drainage Class Hydrologic Group Hydric Designation Prime Farmland 

60C2 & 
60C3 

Moderately Well 
Drained C Non-Hydric Farmland of  

Statewide Importance 

67A Poorly Drained B/D Hydric Prime Farmland  
if Drained 

152A Poorly Drained B/D Hydric Prime Farmland  
if Drained 

512B Moderately Well 
Drained C Non-Hydric Prime Farmland 

865 N/A N/A N/A Not Prime Farmland 

 
• The information provided in the table below provides further detail regarding soil water features: 

o Surface Runoff: Surface runoff refers to the loss of water from an area by flow over the land surface. 
Surface runoff classes are based upon slope, climate and vegetative cover and indicates relative runoff 
for very specific conditions (it is assumed that the surface of the soil is bare and that the retention of 
surface water resulting from irregularities in the ground surface is minimal).  

o Water Table: Water table refers to a saturated zone in the soil and the data indicates, by month, depth 
to the top (upper limit) and base (lower limit) of the saturated zone in most years. These estimates are 
based upon observations of the water table at selected sites and on evidence of a saturated zone 
(grayish colors or mottles (redoximorphic features)) in the soil. Note: A saturated zone that lasts for 
less than a month is not considered a water table. 

o Ponding: Ponding is standing water in a closed depression. Unless a drainage system is installed, the 
water is removed only by percolation, transpiration, or evaporation. Duration indicated as brief means 
ponding typically occurs for a period of 2-7 days. Frequency indicated as non means ponding is not 
possible and frequent means that it occurs, on average, more than once in 2 years (chance of ponding 
is more than 50% in any year).  

o Flooding: Flooding is temporary inundation of an area caused by overflowing stream, runoff from 
adjacent slopes, or tides. Water standing for short periods after rainfall or snowmelt is not considered 
flooding. Water standing in swamps and marshes is considered ponding rather than flooding.  
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Map Unit Surface 
Runoff Water Table Ponding Flooding 

60C2 High February – April 
Upper Limit: 2.0’-3.5’ 
Lower Limit: 2.2’-4.0’ 

January – December 
Frequency: None 

January – December  
Frequency: None 

60C3 Medium February – April 
Upper Limit: 2.0’-3.5’ 
Lower Limit: 2.2’-4.0’ 

January – December 
Frequency: None 

January – December  
Frequency: None 

67A Negligible January – May 
Upper Limit: 0.0’-1.0’ 
Lower Limit: 6.0’ 

January – May 
Surface Depth: 0.0’-0.5’ 
Duration: Brief (2-7 days) 
Frequency: Frequent 

January – December  
Frequency: None 

152A Negligible January – May 
Upper Limit: 0.0’-1.0’ 
Lower Limit: 6.0’ 

January – May 
Surface Depth: 0.0’-0.5’ 
Duration: Brief (2-7 days) 
Frequency: Frequent 

January – December  
Frequency: None 

512B Low February – April 
Upper Limit: 2.0’-3.5’ 
Lower Limit: 3.0’-5.0’ 

January – December 
Frequency: None 

January – December  
Frequency: None 

865 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 
• This site is located on slopes of approximately 0-10%. The site lies within the Fox River Watershed (Rob Roy Creek 

sub watershed).  
 

• Based on an in-office review of the Federal Emergency Management Agency’s (FEMA) Flood Insurance Rate Map 
(FIRM) for Kendall County, Community Panel No. 17093C0030G (effective date February 4, 2009), it does not 
appear that this parcel is located within the 100-year floodplain. It is mapped as Zone X, an area of minimal flood 
hazard. Additionally, based upon review of the U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service’s National Wetlands Inventory Map, a 
riverine waterway (tributary to Rob Roy Creek) is present along the western edge of the project site. To determine 
the presence of wetlands, a wetland delineation specialist, who is recognized by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 
should determine the exact boundaries and value of the wetlands. 

 
• If construction is to occur onsite, a soil erosion and sediment control plan should be prepared and implemented 

in accordance with both Kendall County and Illinois EPA requirements. The Illinois Urban Manual can be used as 
a reference for proper selection and implementation of onsite soil erosion and sediment control practices to 
ensure that soil is properly maintained onsite from project initiation to completion.  

 
• The Land Evaluation Site Assessment (LESA) system, a land use planning tool, assists decision-makers in Kendall 

County in determining the suitability of a land use change and/or a zoning request. Specifically, the LESA system 
is designed to facilitate decision making by providing a rational process for assisting local officials in making 
farmland conversion decisions through the local land use process. It provides a technical framework to 
numerically rank land parcels based on local resource evaluation and site considerations. The LESA system was 
developed by the United States Department of Agriculture-Natural Resources Conservation Service (USDA-NRCS) 
and takes into consideration local conditions such as physical characteristics of the land, compatibility of 
surrounding land uses, and urban growth factors. The LESA system is a two-step procedure that includes Land 
Evaluation (LE) and Site Assessment (SA). The Land Evaluation is based on soils of a given area that are rated and 
placed in groups ranging from the best to worst suited for a stated agriculture use such as cropland and 
forestland. The best group is assigned a value of 100 and all other groups are assigned lower values (94, 87, 79, 
etc.). The Land Evaluation is based on data from the USDA Kendall County Soil Survey. The Site Assessment is 
numerically evaluated according to important factors that contribute to the quality of the site. Each factor 
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selected is assigned values in accordance with the local needs and objectives. The overall score is based on a 300-
point rating scale.  
 
   Land Evaluation Computation 

Soil Type Value Group Relative Value Acres Product (Relative Value x Acres) 

60C2 5 82 5.1 418.2 
60C3 6 69 4.7 324.3 
67A 2 94 18.5 1,739.0 

152A 1 100 2.3 230.0 
512B 2 94 7.8 733.2 
865 8 0 1.5 0.0 

Totals 39.9 3,444.7 
LE Calculation (Product of relative value / Total Acres) 

3,444.7 / 39.9 = 86.3 
LE Score LE = 86 
 
The Land Evaluation score for this site is 86 out of a possible 100 points, indicating that the soils are well-suited 
for agricultural uses since the Land Evaluation score is above 80. 

Site Assessment Computation 
A. Agricultural Land Uses Points 
 1. Percentage of area in agricultural uses within 1.5 miles of site. (20-10-5-0) 10 
 2. Current land use adjacent to site. (30-20-15-10-0) 15 
 3. Percentage of site in agricultural production in any of the last 5 years. (20-15-10-5-0) 10 
 4. Size of site. (30-15-10-0) 15 
B. Compatibility / Impact on Uses 
 1. Distance from city or village limits. (20-10-0) 0 
 2. Consistency of proposed use with County Land Resource Management Concept Plan and/or 

municipal comprehensive land use plan. (20-10-0) 
10 

 3. Compatibility of agricultural and non-agricultural uses. (15-7-0) 0 
C. Existence of Infrastructure 
 1. Availability of public sewage system. (10-8-6-0) 8 
 2. Availability of public water system. (10-8-6-0) 8 
 3. Transportation systems. (15-7-0) 7 
 4. Distance from fire protection service. (10-8-6-2-0) 6 
 Site Assessment Score: 89 
 

The Site Assessment score for this site is 89 out of a possible 200 points. The Land Evaluation value (86) is 
added to the Site Assessment value (89) to obtain a LESA Score of 175. The table below shows the level of 
protection for the proposed project site based on the LESA Score.   

LESA Score Summary 
LESA SCORE LEVEL OF PROTECTION 

0-200 Low 
201-225 Medium 
226-250 High 
251-300 Very High 
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The overall LESA Score for this site is 175 indicating a low level of protection for the proposed project site. Note: 
Selecting the project site with the lowest total points will generally protect the best farmland located in the most viable 
areas and maintain and promote the agricultural industry in Kendall County.  

 
If you have any questions, please contact our office at (630) 553-5821 extension 3.  

 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Alyse Olson 
Resource Conservationist 
 
CC Jefferey Milroy, Milroy Farms LLC 
  
 Matt Asselmeier, Kendall County Planning, Building, & Zoning 
 
 Robert Walker, Bristol Township 
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Applicant: IDNR Project Number:

Address:
Contact: Jeff Milroy

Alternate Number:
Date:

2317170

Project:
Address:

Milroy Farms Composting
1270 East Beecher Road, Yorkville

Description:  Special use permit renewal for operating a compost facility.

06/22/2023
2317303Jeff Milroy

Natural Resource Review Results
Consultation for Endangered Species Protection and Natural Areas Preservation (Part 1075)

The Illinois Natural Heritage Database shows the following protected resources may be in the vicinity of the 
project location:

Mottled Sculpin (Cottus bairdii)
Rusty Patched Bumble Bee (Bombus affinis)

An IDNR staff member will evaluate this information and contact you to request additional information 
or to terminate consultation if adverse effects are unlikely.

Location
The applicant is responsible for the 
accuracy of the location submitted 
for the project.

County: Kendall

Township, Range, Section:
37N, 7E, 5
37N, 7E, 8

Government Jurisdiction
Kendall County
Matthew Asselmeier
111 West Fox Street
Yorkville, Illinois 60560 

IL Department of Natural Resources 
Contact
Kyle Burkwald
217-785-5500
Division of Ecosystems & Environment

Disclaimer

The Illinois Natural Heritage Database cannot provide a conclusive statement on the presence, absence, or 
condition of natural resources in Illinois. This review reflects the information existing in the Database at the time 
of this inquiry, and should not be regarded as a final statement on the site being considered, nor should it be a 
substitute for detailed site surveys or field surveys required for environmental assessments. If additional 
protected resources are encountered during the project’s implementation, compliance with applicable statutes 
and regulations is required.

Page 1 of 3
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Terms of Use

By using this website, you acknowledge that you have read and agree to these terms. These terms may be 
revised by IDNR as necessary. If you continue to use the EcoCAT application after we post changes to these 
terms, it will mean that you accept such changes. If at any time you do not accept the Terms of Use, you may not 
continue to use the website.

1. The IDNR EcoCAT website was developed so that units of local government, state agencies and the public 
could request information or begin natural resource consultations on-line for the Illinois Endangered Species 
Protection Act, Illinois Natural Areas Preservation Act, and Illinois Interagency Wetland Policy Act. EcoCAT uses 
databases, Geographic Information System mapping, and a set of programmed decision rules to determine if 
proposed actions are in the vicinity of protected natural resources. By indicating your agreement to the Terms of 
Use for this application, you warrant that you will not use this web site for any other purpose.

2. Unauthorized attempts to upload, download, or change information on this website are strictly prohibited and 
may be punishable under the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act of 1986 and/or the National Information 
Infrastructure Protection Act.

3. IDNR reserves the right to enhance, modify, alter, or suspend the website at any time without notice, or to 
terminate or restrict access.

Security

EcoCAT operates on a state of Illinois computer system. We may use software to monitor traffic and to identify 
unauthorized attempts to upload, download, or change information, to cause harm or otherwise to damage this 
site. Unauthorized attempts to upload, download, or change information on this server is strictly prohibited by law. 

Unauthorized use, tampering with or modification of this system, including supporting hardware or software, may 
subject the violator to criminal and civil penalties. In the event of unauthorized intrusion, all relevant information 
regarding possible violation of law may be provided to law enforcement officials.

Privacy

EcoCAT generates a public record subject to disclosure under the Freedom of Information Act. Otherwise, IDNR 
uses the information submitted to EcoCAT solely for internal tracking purposes.
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EcoCAT Receipt Project Code 2317303

APPLICANT DATE

6/22/2023

DESCRIPTION CONVENIENCE FEEFEE TOTAL PAID

EcoCAT Consultation $ 125.00 $ 2.81

TOTAL PAID

Illinois Department of Natural Resources
One Natural Resources Way
Springfield, IL 62702
217-785-5500
dnr.ecocat@illinois.gov

127.81

127.81

Jeff Milroy
Jeff Milroy

$

$
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June 23, 2023 
 
Jeff Milroy 
Milroy Farms 

 
 

 

RE: Milroy Farms Composting 

Consultation Program  

EcoCAT Review #2317303 

Kendall County  
 
Dear Mr. Milroy: 
 
The Department has received your submission for this project for the purposes of consultation 
pursuant to the Illinois Endangered Species Protection Act [520 ILCS 10/11], the Illinois Natural 

Areas Preservation Act [525 ILCS 30/17], and Title 17 Illinois Administrative Code Part 1075. 
 
The proposed action consists of operating a compost facility in Yorkville, IL.  
 
The Illinois Natural Heritage Database shows the following protected resources may be in the 
vicinity of the project location: 
 
State Listed 
Mottled Sculpin (Cottus bairdii) 

 

State and Federally Listed 
Rusty Patched Bumblebee (Bombus affinis) 

 
Due to the project scope and proximity to protected resources the Department recommends the 
following actions be taken to avoid adversely impacting listed species in the vicinity of the project: 
 
Rusty Patched Bumblebee 
1) The Department recommends that work which disturbs the ground or may remove flowering 

plants be done between October 1 and April 1 to avoid potential impacts. 
2) If these dates cannot be accommodated, the Department recommends a Rusty Patched Bumble 

Bee survey be performed by a qualified biologist. 
a) Survey results and methods should be forwarded to the Department for review and 

concurrence.  
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Please note that due to the federal status of the Rusty Patched Bumblebee, and its potential 
occurrence in the project area, coordination with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service may be 
necessary and is separate from this consultation and Illinois State regulations.  
 
Given the above recommendations are adopted the Department has determined that impacts to 
these protected resources are unlikely. The Department has determined impacts to other protected 
resources in the vicinity of the project location are also unlikely. 
 
 In accordance with 17 Ill. Adm. Code 1075.40(h), please notify the Department of your decision 

regarding these recommendations. 
 
Consultation on the part of the Department is closed, unless the applicant desires additional 
information or advice related to this proposal.  Consultation for Part 1075 is valid for two years 
unless new information becomes available which was not previously considered; the proposed 
action is modified; or additional species, essential habitat, or Natural Areas are identified in the 
vicinity.  If the action has not been implemented within two years of the date of this letter, or any 
of the above listed conditions develop, a new consultation is necessary. 
 
The natural resource review reflects the information existing in the Illinois Natural Heritage 
Database at the time of the project submittal and should not be regarded as a final statement on the 
project being considered, nor should it be a substitute for detailed site surveys or field surveys 
required for environmental assessments. If additional protected resources are unexpectedly 
encountered during the project’s implementation, the applicant must comply with the applicable 
statutes and regulations. 
 
This letter does not serve as permission to take any listed or endangered species. As a reminder, 
no take of an endangered species is permitted without an Incidental Take Authorization or the 
required permits. Anyone who takes a listed or endangered species without an Incidental Take 
Authorization or required permit may be subject to criminal and/or civil penalties pursuant to the 

Illinois Endangered Species Act, the Fish and Aquatic Life Act, the Wildlife Code and other 
applicable authority. 
 
The Department also offers the following conservation measures be considered to help protect 
native wildlife and enhance natural areas in the project area: 
 
If temporary or permanent lighting is required, the Department recommends the following lighting 
recommendation to minimize adverse effects to wildlife: 

• All lighting should be fully shielded fixtures that emit no light upward. 
• Only “warm-white” or filtered LEDs (CCT < 3,000 K; S/P ratio < 1.2) should be used to 

minimize blue emission. 
• Only light the exact space with the amount (lumens) needed to meet facility safety 

requirement. 
• If LEDs are to be used, avoid the temptation to over-light based on the higher luminous 

efficiency of LEDs. 
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If erosion control blanket is to be used, the Department also recommends that wildlife-friendly 
plastic-free blanket be used around wetlands and adjacent to natural areas, if not feasible to 
implement project wide, to prevent the entanglement of native wildlife. 
 
Please contact me with any questions about this review. 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
Kyle Burkwald 
Impact Assessment Section 
Division of Real Estate Services and Consultation 
Office of Realty & Capital Planning 
Illinois Department of Natural Resources 
One Natural Resources Way 
Springfield, IL 62702 
Kyle.Burkwald@Illinois.gov 
Phone: (217) 785-4984 
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Please fill out the following findings of fact to the best of your capabilities.  §1308.J 
of the Zoning Ordinance outlines findings that the Zoning Board of Appeals shall 
consider in rendering a decision, but is not required to make an affirmative finding on 
all items in order to grant a special use. They are as follows:  

That the establishment, maintenance, and operation of the special use will not be 
detrimental to, or endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general 
welfare. ______________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________ 

That the special use will not be substantially injurious to the use and enjoyment of other 
properties in the immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially 
diminish and impair property values within the neighborhood.  The Zoning classification 
of property within the general area of the property in question shall be considered in 
determining consistency with this standard. The proposed use shall make adequate 
provisions for appropriate buffers, landscaping, fencing, lighting, building materials, 
open space and other improvements necessary to insure that the proposed use does 
not adversely impact adjacent uses and is compatible with the surrounding area and/or 
 the County as a whole. 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________ 

That adequate utilities, access roads and points of ingress and egress, drainage, and/or 
other necessary facilities have been or are being provided.  

______________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________ 

That the special use shall in all other respects conform to the applicable regulations of 
the district in which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be 
modified by the County Board pursuant to the recommendation of the Zoning Board of 
Appeals _______________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________ 

That the special use is consistent with the purpose and objectives of the Land Resource 
Management Plan and other adopted County or municipal plans and policies. 
______________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________ 

Jesse C. Sexton's tenure. 

An experienced operator, Jesse C. Sexton, will be managing operations and running the site.

The operation is permitted and controlled by the EPA and inspected by the health department and they

have not found anything to endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare during

The new management team of Jesse C. Sexton, William J. Coleman, Jefferey D Milroy, and Lilianna D.

Milroy will incorporate as the new site operator. Jesse is well known to neighbors and local officials and

ran the site without complaints regarding odors, debris, or dust. The site will be run orderly and squared

away. No other operator will be assigned to this operation without approval of the management team.

The special use will not be adding any new utilities or roadways to the property. They will use

the current access point onto Beecher Road which has a gate which will be closed unless the operation

is open. Any new proposed detention basins will be provided under the Storm-water permit application.

The special use conforms to all applicable regulations of the A-1 Special use district.

This operation existed before the Land Resource Management Plan existed and the plan calls for the

area to be residential which it could be when/if this operation ever ceases to exist.
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Detailed Description Of Proposed Use Business Plan
1. The facility shall comply with the conditions as they are listed in the applicable sections

of the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance: Composting of landscape waste and food

waste, subject to the following:

a. The facility shall meet all Illinois Environmental Protection Agency requirements as

identified in the applicable sections of the Kendall County Zoning Ordinance.

b. Operational personnel shall be present on site during all hours which the facility is open

for the receipt of landscape waste.

c. The hours during which landscape waste may be received shall be 7:00am to 4:00pm

Monday through Friday and 7:00am to 12:00 noon Saturday. Processing operations shall

cease after each day's receipts have been processed and placed in windrows, not to

exceed three (3) additional hours.

d. The decibel levels at the property line shall not exceed Illinois Pollution Control Board

standards.

e. A locked gate shall restrict vehicle access during closed hours except that a "lock-box"

shall allow access to emergency vehicles.

f. Water samples shall be taken by an independent testing service and analyzed by an

independent laboratory. The locations, methods and frequency of sampling and testing

shall be approved by the Kendall County Environmental Health Department Director. The

test results shall be sent to the Environmental Health Department within forty-five (45)

days of sampling.

g. Soil samples shall be taken by an independent testing service and analyzed by an

independent laboratory. The locations, methods and frequency of sampling and testing

shall be approved by the Kendall County Environmental Health Department Director. The

test results shall be sent to the Environmental Health Department within forty-five (45)

days of sampling.

h. Authorized Kendall County personnel shall be allowed on site during business hours for

inspection and testing.

i. The facility operator shall send up-to-date copies of the State permit and related

documents including Operational Plan, Surface water management Plan, Pest Control

Plan, Site Drawing, and an Annual Report to the County Solid Waste Coordinator.

j. Truck weights shall be limited to 73,280 pounds.

k. The operator shall provide weight receipts to Kendall County.

1
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l. Off-site debris and trash generated by the site must be cleaned-up on a daily basis on

surrounding properties with the owner's permission.

m. Other conditions as appropriate for the particular facility. (Amended 6/26/2023)

n. Decommissioning plan shall be kept on file in the site trailer office per EPA requirements

and will be accessible to the Kendall County Health Inspector.

o. Implement strategies to manage potential odor issues such as maintaining proper

carbon-to-nitrogen ratios, maintaining moisture levels, and sufficient turning of compost

piles to enhance decomposition.

p. Install water spraying systems or dust suppression equipment at critical points of dust

generation. Regularly monitor moisture content and use sprinkler systems or misters to

dampen the compost as needed.

q. A 15’ buffer and a berm will be provided between the composting area and the Village of

Yorkville. This berm will be at least 15’ wide by 3’ high. The buffer landscaping will be

composed primarily of pine, fir, and/or shade trees planted at spacing not to exceed 40’

apart. Seedlings will have a minimum of 6” in height. Specimen seedlings will be planted

and the berm will be constructed within one year of issuance of the Composting

Ordinance.

2. The facility will be permitted to take in 175,000 cubic yards of source-separated

landscape materials (i.e. brush, leaves, tree trimmings and grass).

3. The site plan shall be kept on file as "Exhibit A" attached hereto.

4. The facility operator shall maintain existing plantings on the berm and ditch.

5. The facility operator shall maintain the security gate and landscaping as indicated on

"Exhibit B" attached hereto.

6. The facility operator shall maintain a sampling schedule as shown on "Exhibit C"

attached hereto dated March 11, 2008.

7. The County Solid Waste Coordinator shall maintain a log of complaints received on the

facility.

8. This special use Ordinance shall expire on December 1, 2033 and the petition for renewal

shall be made prior to July 1, 2033.

9. If any Illinois Environmental Protection Agency (IEPA) violations or citations are received by

the site operator/manager and/or parcel owner/manager they need to be submitted to the

County Solid Waste Coordinator within 30 days.

2
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WBK Engineering, LLC 
Part of Bodwé Professional Services

St. Charles Office 
116 W. Main Street, Suite 201 

St. Charles, IL 60174 

Battle Creek Office 
68 E. Michigan Avenue 
Battle Creek, MI 49017 

July 15, 2023 

Mr. Matt Asselmeier 
Kendall County Planning, Building, & Zoning 
111 West Fox Street 
Yorkville, IL 60560-1498 

Subject: 1270 E Beecher Road 
 WBK Project 19-102.BN 

Dear Mr. Asselmeier: 

We have received and reviewed the following information for the subject project: 

• Stormwater Management Permit prepared by Jeff Milroy dated June 29, 2023 received July
6, 2023.

• Site Plan prepared by Tebrugge Engineering dated June 29, 2022, and received July 6, 2023.
• Plat of Survey prepared by Phillip D Young and Associates dated June 13, 2023 and received

July 6, 2023.

The following comments require resolution prior to plan approval and our recommendation for 
issuance of a stormwater permit.  Based on the information provided with this submittal these 
comments may not be comprehensive and should only be considered the initial review response 
to documents provided.   

1. Provide a project narrative addressing drainage impacts and permit requirements.

2. Determine off-site flows tributary to the property and how they will be conveyed and
facilitated by the project.

3. Significant drainage area is tributary to the north line of the project.  Utilize streamstats
to determine tributary area, design flow values for 100 year event and whether the flow
is contained within the banks of the existing channel or result in overbank flooding.  The
limits of 100 year event conveyance is necessary to determine the adequacy of the
proposed plan.

4. Provide a grading plan for the proposed swale drainage features noted on the plan.
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